

The Sun's Global Photospheric and Coronal Magnetic Fields: Observations and Models

Duncan H. Mackay University of St Andrews School of Mathematics and Statistics, University of St Andrews, North Haugh, St Andrews, Fife, KY16 9SS, UK email: duncan@mcs.st-and.ac.uk http://www-solar.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/~duncan

> Anthony R. Yeates Department of Mathematical Sciences Durham University, Science Laboratories, South Road, Durham DH1 3LE, UK email: anthony.yeates@durham.ac.uk http://www.maths.dur.ac.uk/~bmjg46

> > Accepted: 28 September 2012 Published: 26 November 2012

Abstract

In this review, our present day understanding of the Sun's global photospheric and coronal magnetic fields is discussed from both observational and theoretical viewpoints. Firstly, the large-scale properties of photospheric magnetic fields are described, along with recent advances in photospheric magnetic flux transport models. Following this, the wide variety of theoretical models used to simulate global coronal magnetic fields are described. From this, the combined application of both magnetic flux transport simulations and coronal modeling techniques to describe the phenomena of coronal holes, the Sun's open magnetic flux and the hemispheric pattern of solar filaments is discussed. Finally, recent advances in non-eruptive global MHD models are described. While the review focuses mainly on solar magnetic fields, recent advances in measuring and modeling stellar magnetic fields are described where appropriate. In the final section key areas of future research are identified.



Imprint / Terms of Use

Living Reviews in Solar Physics is a peer reviewed open access journal published by the Max Planck Institute for Solar System Research, Max-Planck-Str. 2, 37191 Katlenburg-Lindau, Germany. ISSN 1614-4961.

This review is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Germany License: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/de/. Figures that have been previously published elsewhere may not be reproduced without consent of the original copyright holders.

Because a *Living Reviews* article can evolve over time, we recommend to cite the article as follows:

Duncan H. Mackay and Anthony R. Yeates, "The Sun's Global Photospheric and Coronal Magnetic Fields: Observations and Models", *Living Rev. Solar Phys.*, **9**, (2012), 6. [Online Article]: cited [<date>], http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2012-6

The date given as <date> then uniquely identifies the version of the article you are referring to.

Article Revisions

Living Reviews supports two ways of keeping its articles up-to-date:

- **Fast-track revision** A fast-track revision provides the author with the opportunity to add short notices of current research results, trends and developments, or important publications to the article. A fast-track revision is referred by the responsible subject editor. If an article has undergone a fast-track revision, a summary of changes will be listed here.
- Major update A major update will include substantial changes and additions and is subject to full external refereeing. It is published with a new publication number.

For detailed documentation of an article's evolution, please refer to the history document of the article's online version at http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2012-6.

Contents

1	Introduction	5
2	Photospheric Magnetic Fields	7
	2.1 Observations	7
	2.2 Magnetic flux transport simulations	9
	2.2.1 Standard model	9
	2.2.2 Extensions	13
	2.2.3 Short term applications of magnetic flux transport models	15
	2.2.4 Multiple solar cycle applications of magnetic flux transport models	16
	2.2.5 Variations in the meridional flow profile	18
	2.2.6 Stellar applications of magnetic flux transport models	19
3	Coronal Magnetic Field Models	21
	3.1 Potential field source surface models	21
	3.2 Nonlinear force-free field models	24
	3.2.1 Optimisation method	26
	3.2.2 Force-free electrodynamics method	26
	3.2.3 Flux transport and magneto-frictional method	28
	3.3 Magnetohydrostatic models	30
	3.4 Full magnetohydrodynamic models	33
4	Application of Magnetic Flux Transport and Coronal Models	36
	4.1 Open flux	36
	4.2 Coronal holes	40
	4.3 Hemispheric pattern of solar filaments	43
	4.4 Plasma emission	46
5	Conclusions	48
6	Acknowledgments	49
R	eferences	50

1 Introduction

Magnetic fields play a key role in the existence and variability of a wide variety of phenomena on the Sun. These range from relatively stable, slowly evolving features such as sunspots (Solanki, 2003), coronal loops (Reale, 2010), and solar prominences (Labrosse *et al.*, 2010; Mackay *et al.*, 2010), to highly dynamic phenomena such as solar flares (Benz, 2008) and coronal mass ejections (Forbes *et al.*, 2006; Chen, 2011). Solar magnetic fields may directly or indirectly affect the Earth through the Sun's open magnetic flux (Balogh *et al.*, 1995), solar wind (Hollweg, 2008), and total solar irradiance variations (Fröhlich and Lean, 1998).

Our present day understanding of solar magnetic fields dates back to 1908 when G.E. Hale made the first magnetic field observations of sunspots (Hale, 1908). However, it was not until the systematic mapping of the Sun's magnetic field carried out by the Babcocks (Babcock and Babcock, 1952; Babcock and Livingston, 1958; Babcock, 1959) that the true nature of solar magnetic activity became apparent. While significant advances in observations have been made over the last 50 years, only the strength and distribution of the line-of-sight component at the level of the photosphere has been regularly measured over solar cycle time-scales. However, over the last 5 years, vector magnetic field measurements at the photospheric level have been systematically carried out by the satellite missions of Hinode since 2006 (Kosugi et al., 2007) and SDO (Solar Dynamics Observatory) since 2010 (Pesnell et al., 2012). In addition, systematic ground based measurements of vector magnetic fields have been made by SOLIS (Synoptic Optical Long-term Investigations of the Sun) since 2009 (Keller et al., 2003). While Hinode only observes vector magnetic fields over localised areas, the global capabilities of SDO and SOLIS provide us with a unique opportunity to observe the large-scale spatial distribution of vector magnetic fields across the solar surface. Over time scales of years, SDO and SOLIS will significantly enhance our understanding of the emergence and transport of magnetic fields at the level of the photosphere and their subsequent effect on the global corona. While magnetic fields may be observed directly at the photospheric level, due to low densities the same is not true for the corona. As many important phenomena occur in the solar corona, a key component in our understanding of solar magnetic fields – and the build up of energy within them – is the use of theoretical models to construct (or extrapolate) coronal magnetic fields from photospheric data.

While solar magnetic fields have been observed in detail over long periods of time, the same is not true for other stars. In recent years however, the technique of Zeeman Doppler Imaging (Semel, 1989) has lead to a significant advance in our understanding of magnetic fields on other stars. Results show a wide range of magnetic distributions across stars of varying mass and spectral type (Donati *et al.*, 2009). With the accurate measurement of stellar magnetic fields, techniques developed to model solar magnetic fields, both at photospheric and coronal levels, are now widely applied in the stellar context (Cohen *et al.*, 2010; Jardine *et al.*, 2011).

In this review, we primarily focus on our present day understanding of global solar magnetic fields from both observations and theoretical models. The reader should note that we focus on quasi-static or steady-state coronal models and will not consider fully dynamic eruptive models. Within the review we also restrict ourselves to global aspects of the Sun's magnetic field so will consider neither the Sun's small-scale field nor limited field-of-view models. The review will focus in particular on advances made in the last 15 years, although we have not aimed at completeness in material or references. Additional topics will be added in future revisions. Where appropriate, we expand this discussion into stellar magnetic fields to summarise new results or to describe the application of models developed for the Sun in the stellar context. The review is split into three distinct parts, where each part is largely self-contained. Thus the reader may focus on each part separately if desired. The review is split in the following way:

• Global Photospheric Magnetic Fields (Section 2)

Observations of global solar and stellar photospheric magnetic fields are briefly discussed (Section 2.1). Following from this, magnetic flux transport models used to simulate the spatial and temporal evolution of photospheric magnetic fields are described, along with the variety of extensions and applications of these models (Section 2.2). For a historical discussion of magnetic flux transport models, the reader is referred to the article by Sheeley Jr (2005).

• Global Coronal Models (Section 3)

This section of the review surveys the wide variety of techniques used to model global coronal magnetic fields. This includes the various approximations that are applied from static extrapolation techniques, to time dependent quasi-static models and finally recent advances in global non-eruptive MHD models.

• Application of Global Models (Section 4)

The final part of the review considers the combined application of both magnetic flux transport models and coronal modeling techniques to model a variety of phenomena found on the Sun. These include the Sun's open magnetic flux (Section 4.1), coronal holes (Section 4.2), and the hemispheric pattern of solar filaments (Section 4.3). In addition, recent advances in MHD models for modeling the plasma emission of the corona are also considered (Section 4.4).

Finally, in Section 5 a brief summary is given and some outstanding problems or areas of advancement are outlined.

2 Photospheric Magnetic Fields

2.1 Observations

Presently, three solar cycles of continuous data have been collected by a variety of groundand space-based observatories (Mount Wilson Observatory, Wilcox Solar Observatory, Kitt Peak, SoHO/MDI, SOLIS) mapping the distribution and evolution of the Sun's normal magnetic field component at the level of the photosphere. An illustration of this can be seen in Figure 1a (from Hathaway, 2010). The image is known as the solar magnetic "butterfly diagram" and illustrates the longitude-averaged radial magnetic field as a function of time (horizontal axis) versus sine-latitude (vertical axis). Yellow represents positive flux and blue negative flux, where the field saturates at ± 10 G. The main features in the long-term evolution of the global magnetic field are:

- At the start of each solar cycle (ca. 1975, 1986, 1996) the majority of magnetic flux sits in the polar regions which are of opposite polarity. New magnetic flux then emerges in the form of sunspots or large magnetic bipoles in two latitude bands between $\pm 30^{\circ}$ (Maunder, 1913). As the cycle progresses these bands approach the equator.
- As new flux emerges in the form of magnetic bipoles, the polarities lie mainly in an eastwest orientation. In each hemisphere the leading polarity (in the direction of rotation) has the same sign as the polar field of the hemisphere in which it lies, the following polarity has the opposite sign (Hale's Polarity Law, Hale and Nicholson, 1925). In addition, the majority of bipoles emerge subject to Joy's Law, where the leading polarity lies equatorward of the following (Hale *et al.*, 1919; Howard, 1991). The effect of Joy's Law is clearly seen in Figure 1a as a latitudinal separation of magnetic fluxes: following polarity dominates at latitudes poleward of $\pm 30^{\circ}$; leading polarity dominates at latitudes closer to the equator.
- This latitudinal separation combined with the effects of meridional flow (Duvall Jr, 1979; Hathaway and Rightmire, 2010) and the dispersal of magnetic flux out from complexes of activity, leads to the preferential transport poleward of the following polarity. In contrast, the leading polarity in each hemisphere, which lies at lower latitudes, partially escapes the effect of meridional flow to disperse and cancel across the equator. As a result, in each hemisphere more following flux is transported poleward, where it first cancels the existing polar field and then builds up a new polar field of following polarity. This transport of flux poleward occurs in quasi-episodic poleward streams which extend out of the active latitudes. Such poleward streams are anchored in closely packed clusters of sunspots. The clusters may persist in the same location for several solar rotations as new bipoles emerge to refresh the cluster. These sites are referred to as complexes of activity (Gaizauskas *et al.*, 1983) or as activity nests (Schrijver and Zwaan, 2000). Harvey and Zwaan (1993) found that at least half of the active regions larger than 3.5 deg² emerge within nests. Nests themselves are sometimes grouped together as interacting units; the grouping format determines how flux streams poleward as the groups decay (Gaizauskas, 2008).
- The reversal in sign of the polar field typically occurs 1-2 years after cycle maximum. In recently observed cycles this process occurs with every 11-year activity cycle, with a further 11-year activity cycle required before the polar fields in each hemisphere return to their initial sign. A 22-year magnetic cycle therefore overlies the 11-year activity cycle.

While continuous global measurements of magnetic activity only exist from around 1975, observations of the numbers of sunspots may be used to provide a long running data set of solar activity back to 1611 (Hoyt and Schatten, 1998; Vaquero *et al.*, 2011). These show that on top of the approximate 11 or 22-year activity cycle there are strong modulations in the number of sunspots



Figure 1: (a) The Solar Butterfly Diagram (reproduced from Hathaway, 2010). Yellow represents positive flux and blue negative flux where the field saturates at \pm 10 G. (b) Example of a typical radial magnetic field distribution for AB Dor taken through Zeeman Doppler Imaging (ZDI, data from Donati *et al.*, 2003) where the image saturates at \pm 300 G. White/black denotes positive/negative flux. Due to the tilt angle of AB Dor, measurements can only be made in its northern hemisphere. Image reproduced by permission from Mackay *et al.* (2004), copyright by RAS.

(or magnetic flux emergence rate) over periods of centuries. It is also possible for large-scale magnetic activity to disappear. Such an event occurred between 1645 and 1715 where it is known as the Maunder minimum (Eddy, 1976; Ribes and Nesme-Ribes, 1993). Before 1611 indicators of magnetic activity on the Sun may be found through the use of proxies such as ¹⁴C (Stuiver and Quay, 1980) and ¹⁰Be isotopes (Beer *et al.*, 1990). Through this, reconstructions of the level of magnetic activity over the past 10,000 years may be made (Usoskin, 2008) and show that many such "grand minima" have occurred over the last 10,000 years.

While our present day knowledge of solar magnetic fields is vast, the majority of this knowledge comes from observing the line-of-sight component at the level of the photosphere. To gain a much fuller understanding of the Sun's magnetic field, vector field measurements are required (Lites *et al.*, 1994). However, these measurements are complicated to make, with problems including low signal-to-noise ratios and resolving the 180° ambiguity. In addition, in the past such measurements have not been regularly made until the launch of Hinode (ca. 2006) which can make vector magnetic field measurements over localised areas of the Sun. However, with the new space mission of SDO (launched in 2010) and the availability of ground based vector magnetic field measurements (SOLIS), such measurements should now be made regularly over the full solar disk in strong field regions. This – combined with modeling techniques – should significantly enhance our understanding of solar magnetic fields in years to come. While current vector magnetic field measurements are also required in weak field regions over the entire Sun. This poses a significant technical challenge, but is something that future instrument designers must consider.

While our understanding of magnetic fields on stars other than the Sun is at an early stage, significant progress has been made over the last 10 years. For young, rapidly rotating solar-like stars, very different magnetic field distributions may be found compared to the Sun. An example of this can be seen in Figure 1b, where a typical radial magnetic field distribution for AB Dor taken through Zeeman Doppler Imaging (ZDI, Semel, 1989) is shown. AB Dor has a rotation period of around 1/2 day, which is significantly shorter than that of the Sun (27 days). Compared to the Sun, key differences include kilogauss polar fields covering a large area of the pole and the mixing of both positive and negative polarities at the poles. While this is an illustration of a single star at a single time, many such observations have been made across a wide range of spectral classes. In Figure 3 of Donati et al. (2009) the varying form of morphology and strength of the magnetic fields for a number of stars ranging in spectral class from early F to late M can be seen compared to that of the Sun. The plot covers stars with a rotation period ranging from 0.4 to 30 days and masses from (0.09 to $2 M_{\odot}$). While ZDI magnetic field data sets are generally too short to show cyclic variations, recent observations of the planet-hosting star, τ Bootis, have shown that it may have a magnetic cycle with period of only 2 years (Fares et al., 2009). Indirect evidence for cyclic magnetic field variations on other stars can also be seen from the Mt. Wilson Ca II H+K observations, which use chromospheric observations as a proxy for photospheric magnetic activity (Baliunas et al., 1995). These show that magnetic activity on stars of spectral types G2 to K5V has three main forms of variation. These are (i) moderate activity and regular oscillations similar to the Sun, (ii) high activity and irregular variations (mainly seen on young stars), and finally (iii) stars with flat levels of activity. The final set are assumed to be in a Maunder like state. In the next section magnetic flux transport models used to simulate the evolution of the radial magnetic field at the level of the photosphere on the Sun and other stars are discussed.

2.2 Magnetic flux transport simulations

On large spatial scales, once new magnetic flux has emerged on the Sun, it evolves through the advection processes of differential rotation (Snodgrass, 1983) and meridional flow (Duvall Jr, 1979; Hathaway and Rightmire, 2010). In addition, small convective cells such as super-granulation lead to a random walk of magnetic elements across the solar surface. On spatial scales much larger than super-granules this random walk may be modeled as a diffusive process (Leighton, 1964). Magnetic flux transport simulations (Sheeley Jr, 2005) apply these effects to model the large-scale, long-time evolution of the radial magnetic field $B_r(\theta, \phi, t)$ across the solar surface. In Section 2.2.1 the basic formulation of these models is described. In Section 2.2.2 extensions to the standard model are discussed and, finally, in Sections 2.2.3-2.2.6 applications of magnetic flux transport models are considered.

2.2.1 Standard model

The standard equation of magnetic flux transport arises from the radial component of the magnetic induction equation under the assumptions that $v_r = 0$ and $\partial/\partial r = 0$.¹ These assumptions constrain the radial field component to evolve on a spherical shell of fixed radius, where the time evolution of the radial field component is decoupled from the horizontal field components. Under these assumptions, the evolution of the radial magnetic field, B_r , at the solar surface ($R_{\odot} = 1$) is governed by

$$\frac{\partial B_r}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{\sin\theta} \frac{\partial}{\partial\theta} \left(\sin\theta \left(-u(\theta)B_r + D\frac{\partial B_r}{\partial\theta} \right) \right) - \Omega(\theta)\frac{\partial B_r}{\partial\phi} + \frac{D}{\sin^2\theta}\frac{\partial^2 B_r}{\partial\phi^2} + S(\theta,\phi,t), \quad (1)$$

¹ Alternatively, the magnetic flux transport equation may be obtained through spatially averaging the radial component of the induction equation (see DeVore *et al.*, 1984 and McCloughan and Durrant, 2002).

where $\Omega(\theta)$ and $u(\theta)$ represent the surface flows of differential rotation and meridional flow, respectively, which passively advect the field, D is the isotropic diffusion coefficient representing superganular diffusion, and finally $S(\theta, \phi, t)$ is an additional source term added to represent the emergence of new magnetic flux. Figure 2 illustrates two numerical solutions to the flux transport equation when S = 0. Both are initialised with a single bipole in the northern hemisphere, which is then evolved forward in time for 30 solar rotations. The simulations differ only in the tilt of the initial bipole: in the left column, the bipole satisfies Joy's law, while in the right column both polarities lie at the same latitude. The effect of Joy's law has a significant impact on the strength and distribution of B_r across the surface of the Sun and, in particular, in the polar regions.

A wide range of studies have been carried out to determine the best fit profiles for the advection and diffusion processes (see DeVore *et al.*, 1985b,a; Wang *et al.*, 1989b; van Ballegooijen *et al.*, 1998). The parameter study of Baumann *et al.* (2004) demonstrates the effect of varying many of the model parameters. The most commonly accepted values are the following:



Figure 2: Evolution of the radial component of the magnetic field (B_r) at the solar surface for a single bipole in the northern hemisphere with (a) – (c) initial tilt angle of $\gamma = 20^{\circ}$ and (d) – (f) $\gamma = 0^{\circ}$. The surface distributions are shown for (a) and (d) the initial distribution, (b) and (e) after 15 rotations, and (c) and (f) after 30 rotations. White represents positive flux and black negative flux and the thin solid line is the Polarity Inversion Line. The saturation levels for the field are set to 100 G, 10 G, and 5 G after 0, 15, and 30 rotations, respectively.

1. **Differential Rotation:** The form that best agrees with the evolution of magnetic flux seen on the Sun (DeVore *et al.*, 1985b) is that of Snodgrass (1983). The profile (Figure 3a) is given by

$$\Omega(\theta) = 13.38 - 2.30 \cos^2 \theta - 1.62 \cos^4 \theta \, \deg/\deg, \tag{2}$$

and was determined by cross-correlation of magnetic features seen on daily Mt. Wilson magnetogram observations. The key effect of differential rotation is to shear magnetic fields in an east-west direction, where the strongest shear occurs at mid-latitudes (see Figure 3a). This produces bands of alternating positive and negative polarity as you move poleward (visible after 15 rotations in Figure 2). These bands result in steep meridional gradients which accelerate the decay of the non-axisymmetric² field during periods of low magnetic activity (DeVore, 1987). On the Sun the timescale for differential rotation to act is $\tau_{\rm dr} = 2\pi/(\Omega(0) - \Omega(90)) \sim 1/4$ year. Within magnetic flux transport simulations the profile (2) is either applied directly, simulating the actual rotation of the Sun, or with the Carrington rotation rate (13.2 deg/day) subtracted (van Ballegooijen *et al.*, 1998; McCloughan and Durrant, 2002).



Figure 3: (a) Profile of differential rotation Ω versus latitude (Snodgrass, 1983) that is most commonly used in magnetic flux transport simulations. (b) Profiles of meridional flow u versus latitude used in various studies. The profiles are from Schüssler and Baumann (2006) (solid line), van Ballegooijen *et al.* (1998) (dashed line), Schrijver (2001) (dotted line), and Wang *et al.* (2002b) (dash-dot and dash-dot-dot-dot lines). This figure is based on Figure 3 of Schüssler and Baumann (2006).

2. Supergranular Diffusion: This represents the effect on the Sun's large-scale magnetic field of the small-scale convective motions of supergranules. The term was first introduced by Leighton (1964) to represent the effect of the non-stationary pattern of supergranular cells dispersing magnetic flux across the solar surface. In addition it describes the cancellation of magnetic flux (see Figure 2) when positive and negative magnetic elements encounter one-another. Initial estimates based on obtaining the correct reversal time of the polar fields (without including meridional flow) were of a diffusion coefficient of D ~ 770−1540 km² s⁻¹. However, once meridional flow was included to aid the transport of magnetic flux poleward, the value was lowered to around 200−600 km² s⁻¹ which better agrees with observational estimates and is commonly used in models today (DeVore *et al.*, 1985b; Wang *et al.*, 1989b). Globally this gives a time-scale τ_{mf} = R²_☉/D ~ 34−80 yr, however when considering non-global length scales such as that of individual active regions the timescale is much shorter.

² The evolution of the axisymmetric (longitude-averaged) B_r is independent of the differential rotation, as may be seen by averaging Equation (2) in longitude (Leighton, 1964).

Some models have introduced a discrete random walk process as an alternative to the diffusion term which will be discussed in Section 2.2.2 (e.g., Wang and Sheeley Jr, 1994; Schrijver, 2001).

- 3. Meridional Flow: This effect was the last to be added to what is now known as the standard magnetic flux transport model. It represents an observed weak flow that pushes magnetic flux from the equator to the poles in each hemisphere. The exact rate and profile applied varies from author to author, but peak values of 10-20 m s⁻¹ are commonly used. Figure 3b shows a number of meridional flow profiles that have been used by different authors. The typical time-scale for meridional flow is $\tau_{\rm mf} = R_{\odot}/u(\theta) \sim 1-2$ yr. As current measurements of meridional flow are at the limits of detection, for both the flow rate and profile, this has lead to some variations in the exact profile and values used which will be discussed in more detail in Section 2.2.4. The first systematic study of the effects of meridional flow on the photospheric field was carried out by DeVore et al. (1984). This showed that to obtain a realistic distribution and strength for the polar field, the meridional flow profile must peak at low to mid-latitudes and rapidly decrease to zero at high latitudes. The inclusion of meridional flow was a key development which meant that much lower rates of the diffusion coefficient could be applied, while still allowing the polar fields to reverse at the correct time. It also aids in producing the observed "topknot" latitudinal profile of the polar field (more concentrated than a dipole, Sheeley Jr et al., 1989), and in reproducing the strong poleward surges observed in the butterfly diagram (Wang et al., 1989a). In recent years more significant changes to the profile of meridional flow have been suggested. This will be discussed in Section 2.2.4 and Section 2.2.5.
- 4. Magnetic Flux Emergence: The final term in Equation (1) is a time-dependent source term which represents a contribution to the radial magnetic field from the emergence of new magnetic bipoles. Most flux transport simulations carry out emergence in a semi-empirical way where the emergence is carried out instantaneously, so that growth of the new bipole is not considered. Instead, only its decay under the action of the advection and diffusion process described above are followed. Inclusion of this term is critical in simulations extending over more than one rotation, to ensure that accuracy of the photospheric field is maintained. Within the literature the source term has been specified in a number of ways and reproduces the main properties of the butterfly diagram, along with varying levels of magnetic activity through single cycles and from one cycle to the next. Different ways in which the source term has been specified include:
 - (a) Observationally determining the properties of new bipoles from daily or synoptic magnetograms so that actual magnetic field configurations found on the Sun may be reproduced (Sheeley Jr *et al.*, 1985; Yeates *et al.*, 2007). Statistical variations of these properties have been applied to model multiple solar cycles of varying activity.
 - (b) Producing synthetic data sets from power law distributions (Harvey and Zwaan, 1993; Schrijver and Harvey, 1994) where the power laws specify the number of bipoles emerging at a given time with a specific area or flux (van Ballegooijen *et al.*, 1998; Schrijver, 2001).
 - (c) Using observations of sunspot group numbers to specify the number of bipoles emerging (Schrijver et al., 2002; Baumann et al., 2006; Jiang et al., 2010a) where the flux within the bipoles can be specified through empirical sunspot area-flux relationships (Baumann et al., 2006; Jiang et al., 2010a). Recently Jiang et al. (2011a) extended this technique back to 1700 using both Group (Hoyt and Schatten, 1998) and Wolf (Wolf, 1861) sunspot numbers.

(d) Assimilating observed magnetograms directly into the flux transport simulations (Worden and Harvey, 2000; Schrijver et al., 2003; Durrant et al., 2004). Worden and Harvey (2000) use the flux transport model to produce evolving magnetic synoptic maps from NSO Kitt Peak data. They develop a technique where full-disk magnetograms are assimilated when available and a flux transport model is used to fill in for unobserved or poorly observed regions (such as the far side of the Sun or the poles). Schrijver et al. (2003) use a similar technique but with full-disk MDI observations, demonstrating it over a 5 yr period. For the near side of the Sun, the MDI observations are inserted every 6 h to reproduce the actual field over a 60° degree window where the measurements are most accurate. The authors show that the magnetic flux transport process correctly predicts the return of magnetic elements from the far side, except for the case of flux that emerged on the far-side. To account for this, the authors also include far side acoustic observations for the emergence of new regions (Lindsey and Braun, 2000; Braun and Lindsey, 2001). In contrast to the method of Schrijver et al. (2003), which inputs observations from daily MDI magnetograms, Durrant et al. (2004) inserted fields from synoptic magnetograms once per solar rotation for all latitudes between \pm 60°. They used this to investigate the transport of flux poleward and the reversal of the polar field. Recently, the Worden and Harvey (2000) model has been incorporated in a more rigorous data assimilation framework to form the Air Force Data Assimilative Photospheric Flux Transport Model (ADAPT, Arge et al., 2010; Henney et al., 2012). An ensemble of model realisations with different parameter values allow both data and model uncertainties to be incorporated in predictions of photospheric evolution.

A common treatment of the source term is to include only large magnetic bipoles of flux exceeding 10^{20} Mx. Extensions of the model to include small-scale magnetic regions are described in Section 2.2.2. While many of the parameters for newly emerging bipoles may be determined observationally, or specified through empirical relationships, the parameter about which there is most disagreement in the literature is the variation of the tilt angle (γ) with latitude, or Joy's law. While it should in principle be observed directly for each individual magnetic bipole, this is possible only in recent cycles for which magnetogram observations are available. Traditionally the tilt angle was chosen to vary with latitude λ as $\gamma \sim \lambda/2$, but more recent studies suggest that a much smaller variation with latitude is required ($\gamma \sim 0.15\lambda$, Schüssler and Baumann, 2006). The tilt angle is a critical quantity as variations can have a significant effect on the net amount of magnetic flux pushed poleward (see Figure 2) and subsequently on the reversal times of the polar fields and amount of open flux. This will be discussed further in Sections 2.2.4 and 4.1.

2.2.2 Extensions

Since the early flux transport models were produced (DeVore *et al.*, 1985b), new variations have been developed with new formulations and features added by a variety of authors. These include:

1. Extending the basic flux transport model for the large-scale field to include the emergence of small-scale fields down to the size of ephemeral regions (Worden and Harvey, 2000; Schrijver, 2001). Such small scale fields are a necessary element to model the magnetic network and simulate chromospheric radiative losses. Including the small scale emergences leads to a much more realistic description of the photospheric field where discrete magnetic elements can be seen at all latitudes (compare Figure 4 to Figure 2), however since they are randomly oriented small-scale regions do not have a significant effect on large-scale diffusion or on the polar field (Wang and Sheeley Jr, 1991; Worden and Harvey, 2000). To resolve such

small-scales, Schrijver (2001) introduced a particle-tracking concept along with rules for the interaction of magnetic elements with one-another. Another important extension introduced by Schrijver (2001) was magneto-convective coupling. With its introduction the early decay of active regions could be considered, where strong field regions diffuse more slowly due to the suppression of convection.

- 2. Introducing an additional decay term into the basic flux transport model (Schrijver *et al.*, 2002; Baumann *et al.*, 2006). In the paper of Baumann *et al.* (2006) this term is specified as a linear decay of the mode amplitudes of the radial magnetic field. The term approximates how a radial structure to the magnetic field, along with volume diffusion, would affect the radial component that is constrained to lie on a spherical shell. The authors only include a decay term based on the lowest order radial mode, as it is the only radial mode with a sufficiently long decay time to affect the global field. Through simulating the surface and polar fields from Cycles 13-23 (1874-2005) and requiring the simulated polar fields to reverse at the correct time as given by both magnetic and proxy observations, the authors deduce a volume diffusivity of the order of $50-100 \text{ km}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$.
- 3. Coupling the magnetic flux transport model to a coronal evolution model so that both the photospheric and coronal magnetic fields evolve together in time. The first study to consider this was carried out by van Ballegooijen *et al.* (1998). Limitations of this initial model were that in the coronal volume the radial (B_r) and horizontal (B_{θ}, B_{ϕ}) field components evolve independently from one another, and that no force balance was considered for the coronal field. Later developments (van Ballegooijen *et al.*, 1998, 2000; Mackay and van Ballegooijen, 2006, see Section 3.2.3) removed all of these restrictive assumptions so that a fully coupled evolution of the coronal field along with radial diffusion, radial velocities, and force balance occurred. In an additional study the technique was also extended to include a simplified treatment of the convective zone (van Ballegooijen and Mackay, 2007).
- 4. Reformulating the flux transport equation into a "synoptic" transport equation, that evolves synoptic magnetic field maps such as those produced by NSO/Kitt Peak³ from one Carrington rotation to the next (McCloughan and Durrant, 2002). Their synoptic transport equation takes the form

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{B}_r}{\partial \tau} = -\frac{f(\theta)}{\sin\theta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \left(\sin\theta u(\theta) \mathcal{B}_r\right) - \frac{v_\phi(\theta) f(\theta)}{\sin\theta} \frac{\partial \mathcal{B}_r}{\partial \phi} + \frac{Df(\theta)}{\sin\theta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \left(\sin\theta \frac{\partial \mathcal{B}_r}{\partial \theta}\right) + \frac{Df(\theta)}{\sin^2\theta} \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{B}_r}{\partial \phi^2}, \quad (3)$$

where \mathcal{B}_r represents the synoptic magnetogram, τ a time index such that integer values of $2\pi/\Omega$ correspond to successive synoptic magnetograms, and $f(\theta) = 1/(1 + v_{\phi}(\theta)/(\Omega \sin \theta))$. The individual terms in Equation (3) are similar to those of Equation (1) but modified to take into account that, due to differential rotation, different latitudes return to central meridian at different times.

5. Although the surface flux transport model is primarily considered in 2D, Leighton (1964) also introduced a reduced 1-D form where the large-scale radial field is spatially averaged in the azimuthal direction. Due to the form of Equation (2), the differential rotation $\Omega(\theta)$ plays no role in such a model. Recent applications of this 1-D model have been to reconcile surface flux transport with results from axisymmetric, kinematic dynamo simulations in the r- θ plane. Cameron and Schüssler (2007), through describing the emergence of magnetic flux based on sunspot records in a similar manner to that used by Dikpati *et al.* (2006) and Dikpati and Gilman (2006), determine whether the 1-D surface flux transport model has any predictive properties. They show that in some cases a significant positive correlation can be

 $^{^3}$ http://nsokp.nso.edu/

found between the amount of flux canceling across the equator and the strength of the next cycle. However, when detailed observations of bipole emergences are added, they find that any predictive power may be lost. Cameron *et al.* (2012) have used the same model to derive constraints on parameter values in the dynamo models, based on observed flux evolution at the surface.



Figure 4: Example of the magnetic flux transport simulations of Schrijver (2001) which apply a particletracking concept to simulate global magnetic fields down to the scale of ephemeral regions. Image reproduced by permission from Schrijver (2001), copyright by AAS.

The magnetic flux transport models described above have been widely used and extensively compared with observations of the Sun's large-scale magnetic field. These comparisons are described next for time-scales of up to a single 11-year cycle (Section 2.2.3) and also for multiple solar cycles (Section 2.2.4). In addition, simulations where the profile of meridional flow is changed from that shown in Figure 3b are considered (Section 2.2.5) along with the application of these models to stellar magnetic fields (Section 2.2.6).

2.2.3 Short term applications of magnetic flux transport models

It is generally found that for simulations extending up to a full 11-year solar cycle (termed here short term simulations) magnetic flux transport models are highly successful in reproducing the key features of the evolution of the Sun's radial magnetic field. These include:

- 1. The 27 day and 28–29 day recurrent patterns seen in plots of the Sun's mean line-of-sight field. These patterns can be respectively attributed to differential rotation and the combined effect of differential rotation with magnetic flux emergence (Sheeley Jr *et al.*, 1985).
- 2. Reproducing the rigid rotation of large-scale magnetic features at the equatorial rate, caused by a balance between differential rotation and a poleward drift due to the combined effects of meridional flow and surface diffusion (DeVore, 1987; Sheeley Jr *et al.*, 1987; Wang *et al.*, 1989b).
- 3. Reproducing the reversal time of the polar fields along with the strength and top-knot profile (DeVore and Sheeley Jr, 1987; Durrant and Wilson, 2003).

4. Matching qualitatively the strength and distribution of the radial magnetic field at the photosphere. Examples include the formation of switchbacks of polarity inversions lines at midlatitudes due to the dispersal of magnetic flux from low latitude active regions (Wang *et al.*, 1989b; van Ballegooijen *et al.*, 1998) and the return of magnetic elements from the far-side of the Sun (Schrijver and DeRosa, 2003).

A full discussion of these results along with their historical development can be found in the review by Sheeley Jr (2005).

Some short term studies have used magnetic flux transport models to predict the nature of the polar magnetic field. These studies assume that the polar fields are solely due to the passive transport of magnetic flux from low to high latitudes on the Sun. An example is Durrant *et al.* (2001, 2002) where the authors consider a detailed study of high latitude magnetic plumes. These plumes are produced from poleward surges of magnetic flux that originate from activity complexes (Gaizauskas *et al.*, 1983). While a good agreement was found between observations and models, the authors did find some small discrepancies. They attributed these to small bipole emergences outside the normal range of active latitudes considered in flux transport models. This indicates that the field at high latitudes is not solely the result of magnetic fields transported from low latitudes and a local dynamo action may play a role. To date the only surface flux transport models to include such emergences are those of Schrijver (2001) and Worden and Harvey (2000).

In an additional study, Durrant (2002) and Durrant and Wilson (2003) investigated in detail the reversal times of the polar magnetic fields, comparing the reversal times deduced from KP normal component magnetograms with those found in synoptic flux transport simulations. To test whether magnetic observations or simulations gave the best estimate they deduced the locations of PILs at high latitudes from H α filament data. They then compared these to (i) the observed PIL locations deduced from Kitt Peak data and (ii) the simulated PILs from the synoptic flux transport equations. The study found that above 70° latitude the location of the PIL – as given by the H α filaments – was in fact better determined by the flux transport process rather than the direct magnetic field observations. This was due to the high level of uncertainty and error in measuring the field at high latitudes as a result of foreshortening and solar B angle effects (Worden and Harvey, 2000). However, the simulation had to be run for over 20 rotations so that the highlatitude fields in the polar regions were solely the product of flux transport processes. This ensured that any systematic errors in the observations at high latitudes were removed.

A recent application of magnetic flux transport models has been to improve forecasts of the solar 10.7 cm (2.8 GHz) radio flux, using an empirical relation between this quantity and total "sunspot" and "plage" fields in the simulation (Henney *et al.*, 2012). The 10.7 cm radio flux is widely used by the space weather community as a proxy for solar activity, with measurements dating back to 1947. For other aspects of space weather, flux transport models need to be coupled to coronal models: these applications will be discussed in Section 4.

2.2.4 Multiple solar cycle applications of magnetic flux transport models

Agreement between observations and magnetic flux transport simulations is generally good over time-scales of less than 11 years. But when magnetic flux transport simulations are run for multiple 11-year solar cycles, some inconsistencies are found. One of the first long term simulations was carried out by Schrijver *et al.* (2002) who simulated the photospheric field over 32 cycles from the Maunder minimum (1649) to 2002. With detailed observations of magnetic bipoles available only for the last few solar cycles, the authors used synthetic data, scaling the activity level to the observed sunspot number. They also assumed that the flux transport parameters remained the same from one cycle to the next, and used a meridional flow profile that peaked at mid-latitudes with a value of 14 m s⁻¹. Since polar field production varies with the amount of emerging flux, the authors found that if the high latitude field is solely described by the passive advection of magnetic flux from the active latitudes, then reversals of the polar field within each cycle may be lost. This is especially true if a series of weak cycles follows stronger ones. Although reversals were lost, they did return in later cycles, but the reversal in Cycle 23 did not match the observed time (see Figure 1 of Schrijver *et al.*, 2002). To ensure that reversals occurred in every cycle, Schrijver *et al.* (2002) introduced a new exponential decay term for the radial field in Equation (1). This acts to reduce the strength of the large scale field over long periods of time and prevents excess polar fields from building up. They found that a decay time of 5-10 yr is optimal in allowing polar field reversals to occur from one cycle to the next. Later, Baumann *et al.* (2006) also found that a decay term was required in long term simulations to maintain the reversal of the polar field. They formulated the decay term in terms of 3D diffusion of the magnetic field constrained on the 2D solar surface.

While Schrijver et al. (2002) and Baumann et al. (2006) introduced a new physical term into the 2D flux transport model, Wang et al. (2002a) considered a different approach. Rather than keeping the advection due to meridional flow constant from one cycle to the next, they varied the strength of meridional flow such that stronger cycles were given a faster flow. If a factor of two change occurs between strong and weak cycles, then reversals of the polar field may be maintained (see Figure 2 of Wang et al., 2002a). This is because faster meridional flow leads to less flux canceling across the equator, and less net flux transported poleward. If correct, this suggests that in stronger cycles the magnetic fluxes in each hemisphere are more effectively isolated from one another. To complicate matters further, Cameron et al. (2010) put forward a third possibility for maintaining polar field reversals. This was based around an observed cycle-to-cycle variation in the tilt angle of sunspot groups (Dasi-Espuig et al., 2010). If there is an anti-correlation between cycle strength and tilt angles, where stronger cycles are assumed to have smaller tilt angles, then neither variable rates of meridional flow, or extra decay terms are required to maintain polar field reversals from one cycle to the next. To show this, Cameron et al. (2010) consider a simulation extending from 1913–1986 and show that with such a tilt angle variation, the polar field reversal may be maintained. Although a decreased tilt angle alone was sufficient to maintain polar field reversals in this study, a longer term study by Jiang *et al.* (2011b) found that the radial decay term had to be re-introduced when carrying out simulations from 1700 to present (Jiang et al., 2011a). The authors attributed this to inaccuracies in the input data of observed activity levels. However, it is not clear that observed tilt angles in the recent Cycle 23 were sufficiently reduced for this alone to explain the low polar fields in 2008 (Schrijver and Liu, 2008).

This discussion indicates that multiple combinations of model parameters may produce qualitatively the same result. This is illustrated by the study of Schrijver and Liu (2008) who consider the origin of the decreased axial dipole moment found in 2008 compared to 1997. They simulated the global field from 1997–2008 and deduced that their previously included decay term was insufficient by itself to account for the lower dipole moment. Instead, they found that to reproduce the observations a steeper meridional flow gradient is required at the equator. This steeper gradient effectively isolates the hemispheres, as in Wang *et al.* (2002a). However, in contrast to Wang *et al.* (2002a), in their study Schrijver and Liu (2008) did not have to increase the meridional flow rate, which was maintained at around 10 m s⁻¹. In a similar study, Jiang *et al.* (2011c) illustrated two additional ways of reproducing the lower polar field strengths in 2008, namely (i) a 28% decrease in bipole tilt angles, or (ii) an increase in the meridional flow rate from 11 m s⁻¹ to 17 m s⁻¹. They, however, found that the first case delayed the reversal time by 1.5 yr, so was inconsistent with observations. Unfortunately, all of these possible solutions are within current observational limits, so none can be ruled out.

2.2.5 Variations in the meridional flow profile

While Wang *et al.* (2002a) and Schrijver and Liu (2008) introduce overall variations of the meridional flow profile and rate, they maintain a basic poleward flow profile in each hemisphere. Recent studies have considered more significant (and controversial) changes to the meridional flow, motivated by helioseismic observations. Two broad types of variation have been considered: a counter-cell near the poles, and an inflow towards activity regions.



Figure 5: Comparison of (a) solar and (b) stellar magnetic field configurations from Schrijver and Title (2001). For the stellar system all flux transport parameters are held fixed to solar values and only the emergence rate is increased to 30 times solar values. For the case of the Sun the magnetic fields saturate at \pm 70 Mx cm⁻² and for the star \pm 700 Mx cm⁻². Image reproduced by permission from Schrijver and Title (2001), copyright by AAS.

Jiang *et al.* (2009) considered the possibility of the existence of a counter-cell of reversed meridional flow near the poles. This change was motivated directly by observations showing that in Cycles 21 and 22 the polar field was strongly peaked at the poles, while in Cycle 23 it peaked at a latitude of 75° and then reduced by nearly 50% closer to the pole (Raouafi *et al.*, 2008). While the observed structure in Cycles 21 and 22 was consistent with a meridional flow profile that either extended all the way to the poles, or switched off at around 75°, the Cycle 23 structure was not. To investigate what form of meridional flow could reproduce this, Jiang *et al.* (2009) introduced a counter-cell of meridional flow beyond 70° latitude and showed that the observed distribution of magnetic flux in Cycle 23 could be achieved with a counter-cell rate of $2-5 \text{ m s}^{-1}$. The authors showed that the counter-cell need not be constant and that similar results could be obtained if it existed only in the declining phase. To date existence of such a counter-cell has not been verified beyond doubt even though some results from helioseismology support its existence (Haber *et al.*, 2002; González Hernández *et al.*, 2006). Also, due to the difference in profile of polar magnetic fields in Cycles 21 and 22 it is unlikely that such a counter-cell existed in these cycles.

The second type of flow perturbation suggested by observations are activity-dependent inflows towards the central latitude of emergence of the butterfly diagram (Gizon and Rempel, 2008; González Hernández *et al.*, 2008). At least in part, this modulation of the axisymmetric meridional flow component results from the cumulative effect of the sub-surface horizontal flows converging towards active regions (Hindman *et al.*, 2004). In an initial study, DeRosa and Schrijver (2006) simulated the effect of (non-axisymmetric) inflows towards active regions by adding an advection term to the flux transport model, its velocity proportional to the horizontal gradient of radial magnetic field. They found that if surface speeds exceed 10 m s^{-1} then an unrealistic "clumping" of magnetic flux that is not observed occurs. More recently, Jiang et al. (2010b) have considered the effect of an axisymmetric flow perturbation towards active latitudes of speed 3-5 m s⁻¹, similar to perturbations observed during Cycle 23. The authors consider how such a flow effects the polar field distribution though simulated solar cycles. The main effect is to decrease the separation of magnetic bipoles, subsequently leading to more cancellation in each hemisphere and less net flux transport poleward. This leads to an 18% decrease in the polar field strength compared to simulations without it. While this is a significant decrease, the authors note that it cannot (alone) account for the weak polar fields observed at the end of Cycle 23 as those fields decreased by more than a factor of 2. However, in conjunction with a variable meridional flow from one cycle to the next (Wang et al., 2002a) or the steepening gradient of the flow (Schrijver and Liu, 2008), the inflow may have a significant effect. Cameron and Schüssler (2010) show that one can incorporate such axisymmetric flow perturbations by setting the speed at a given time proportional to the latitudinal gradient of longitude-averaged B_r . Not only does this generate appropriate inflows, but these can explain the observed solar cycle variation of the P_2^1 Legendre component of meridional

2.2.6 Stellar applications of magnetic flux transport models

flow (Hathaway and Rightmire, 2010) without changing the background flow speed.

Due to advances in measuring stellar magnetic fields, magnetic flux transport models have recently been applied in the stellar context. One of their main applications has been to consider how polar or high latitude intense field regions or stellar spots may arise in rapidly rotating stellar systems (Strassmeier and Rice, 2001). Initial studies (Schrijver and Title, 2001; Mackay et al., 2004) used as a starting point parameters from solar magnetic flux transport simulations. These parameters were then varied to reproduce the key observational properties of the radial magnetic fields on stars as deduced through ZDI measurements. In the paper of Schrijver and Title (2001) the authors consider a very active cool star of period 6 days. A key feature of their simulations is that they fix all parameters to values determined for the Sun and only vary the emergence rate to be 30 times solar values. They show that even if solar emergence latitudes are maintained, then the flux transport effects of meridional flow and surface diffusion are sufficient to transport enough flux to the poles to produce a polar spot. In Figure 5, a comparison of typical solar (Figure 5a) and stellar (Figure 5b) magnetic field configurations from Figure 2 of Schrijver and Title (2001) can be seen. For the case of the Sun the magnetic fields saturate at \pm 70 Mx cm⁻² and for the star \pm 700 Mx cm⁻². Both images show the polar region from a latitude of 40°. A clear difference can be seen, where for the Sun the pole has a weak unipolar field. For the rapidly rotating star there is a unipolar spot with a ring of strong opposite polarity flux around it. The existence of this ring is partly due to the non-linear surface diffusion used in Schrijver and Title (2001) which causes intense field regions to diffuse more slowly (see Section 2.2.2).

In contrast to the unipolar poles modeled by Schrijver and Title (2001), some ZDI observations of rapidly rotating stars show intermingling of opposite polarities at high latitudes, where intense fields of both polarities lie at the same latitude and are not nested. An example of this can be seen in AB Dor (Figure 1b) which has a rotation period of 1/2 day. Mackay *et al.* (2004) showed that in order to produce strong intermingled polarities within the polar regions more significant changes are required relative to the solar flux transport model. These include increasing the emergence latitude of new bipoles from 40° to 70° and increasing the rate of meridional flow from 11 m s⁻¹ to 100 m s⁻¹. Increased emergence latitudes are consistent with an enhanced Coriolis force deflecting more flux poleward as it travels through the convection zone (Schüssler and Solanki, 1992). However, at the present time, the predicted enhanced meridional flow is still below the level of detection. While the simulations of Schrijver and Title (2001) and Mackay *et al.* (2004) have successfully reproduced key features in the magnetic field distributions of rapidly rotating stars, as yet they do not directly simulate the observations as has been done for the Sun. Presently, there is insufficient input data on the emergence latitudes of new bipoles in order to carry out such simulations. In the study of Işık *et al.* (2007) the authors used magnetic flux transport simulations to estimate the lifetime of starspots as they are transported across the surface of a star. The authors show that many factors may effect the star spot lifetime, such as the latitude of emergence and differential rotation rate. In particular the authors show that for rapidly rotating stars the lifetime of spots may be 1-2 months, however the lifetime is lower for stars with strong differential rotation (AB Dor) compared to those with weak differential rotation (HR 1099).

In recent years magnetic flux transport simulations have been combined with models for the generation and transport of magnetic flux in the stellar interior (Holzwarth et al., 2006; Işık et al., 2011) to predict interior properties on other stars. The first study to link the pre- and posteruptive transport properties was carried out by Holzwarth et al. (2006). In this study, the authors quantified what effect the enhanced meridional flow predicted by Mackay et al. (2004) would have on the dynamics and displacement of magnetic flux tubes as they rise though the convective zone (Moreno-Insertis, 1986; Schüssler et al., 1994). The authors found that the enhanced meridional flow leads to a non-linear displacement of the flux tubes, where bipoles were displaced to emerge at higher latitudes. This was consistent with the required higher latitude of emergence to produce the desired intermingling in the poles. However, in a more detailed model, Işık et al. (2011) combine a thin-layer α - Ω dynamo model with a convective zone transport model and surface flux transport model to provide a complete description of the evolution of magnetic field on stars. Through this combined model the authors show that for rapid rotators (period ~ 2 days), due to the effect of the Coriolis force, the surface signature of the emergence and subsequent transport may not be a clear signal of the dynamo action that created it. This has important consequences for both the observation and interpretation of magnetic fields on other stars.

3 Coronal Magnetic Field Models

The magnetic fields observed in the solar photosphere extend out into the corona, where they structure the plasma, store free magnetic energy and produce a wide variety of phenomena. While the distribution and strength of magnetic fields are routinely measured in the photosphere, the same is not true for the corona, where the low densities mean that such measurements are very rare (Cargill, 2009). To understand the nature of coronal magnetic fields, theoretical models that use the photospheric observations as a lower boundary condition are required.

In this section, we survey the variety of techniques that have been developed to model the coronal magnetic field based on the input of photospheric magnetic fields. We limit our discussion to global models in spherical geometry, and do not consider, for example, models for the magnetic structure of single active regions. In future revisions of this review, we will extend our discussion to include observations of both coronal and prominence magnetic fields in order to determine the validity of these models. Applications of the global models are the subject of Section 4.

A difficulty arising with any such attempt at a global model based on *observations* of the photospheric magnetic field, is that we can only observe one side of the Sun at a single time (except for some limited observations by STEREO), but need data for all longitudes. This problem may be addressed either by compiling time series of full-disk observations into a synoptic observed magnetogram, or by assimilating individual active regions into a time-dependent surface flux transport model (Section 2.2). In this section, we will assume that the photospheric distribution of $B_r(R_{\odot}, \theta, \phi)$ at a given time has already been derived by one of these techniques, and consider how to construct the magnetic field of the corona.

Virtually all global models to date produce equilibria. This is reasonable since the coronal magnetic evolution on a global scale is essentially quasi-static. The magnetic field evolves through a continuous sequence of equilibria because the Alfvén speed in the corona (the speed at which magnetic disturbances propagate) is of the order of 1000 km s⁻¹, much faster than the large-scale surface motions that drive the evolution $(1-3 \text{ km s}^{-1})$. To model this quasi-static evolution, nearly all models produce a series of independent "single-time" extrapolations from the photospheric magnetic fields at discrete time intervals, without regard to the previous magnetic connectivity that existed in the corona. The exception is the flux transport magneto-frictional model (Section 3.2) which produces a continuous sequence of equilibria. In this model, the equilibrium assumption is violated locally for brief periods during dynamical events such as CMEs or flares. Individual CME events are becoming practical to simulate in fully time-dependent MHD codes, but equilibrium models are still the only feasible way to understand when and where they are likely to occur.

We divide the techniques into four categories. The first three are potential field source surface models (Section 3.1), force-free field models (Section 3.2), and magnetohydrostatic models (Section 3.3). All of these models output only (or primarily) the magnetic field. The fourth category are full MHD models (Section 3.4), which aim to self-consistently describe both the magnetic field and other plasma properties.

3.1 Potential field source surface models

The most straightforward and therefore most commonly used technique for modeling the global coronal magnetic field is the so-called Potential Field Source Surface (PFSS) model (Schatten *et al.*, 1969; Altschuler and Newkirk Jr, 1969). We note that an implementation of the PFSS model by Luhmann *et al.* (2002), using photospheric magnetogram data from Wilcox Solar Observatory, is available to run "on demand" at http://ccmc.gsfc.nasa.gov/. The key assumption of this model is that there is zero electric current in the corona. The magnetic field is computed on a

domain $R_{\odot} \leq r \leq R_{\rm ss}$, between the photosphere, R_{\odot} , where the radial magnetic field distribution⁴ is specified and an outer "source surface", $R_{\rm ss}$, where the boundary conditions $B_{\theta} = B_{\phi} = 0$ are applied. The idea of the source surface is to model the effect of the solar wind outflow, which distorts the magnetic field away from a current-free configuration above approximately $2 R_{\odot}$ (once the magnetic field strength has fallen off sufficiently). Distortion away from a current-free field implies the presence of electric currents at larger radii: a self-consistent treatment of the solar wind requires full MHD description (Section 4.4), but an artificial "source surface" boundary approximates the effect on the magnetic field in the lower corona. The PFSS model has been used to study a wide variety of phenomena ranging from open flux (see Section 4.1), coronal holes (Section 4.2), and coronal null points (Cook *et al.*, 2009) to magnetic fields in the coronae of other stars (Jardine *et al.*, 2002a).

The requirement of vanishing electric current density in the PFSS model means that $\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = 0$, so that

$$\mathbf{B} = -\nabla\Psi,\tag{4}$$

where Ψ is a scalar potential. The solenoidal constraint $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$ then implies that Ψ satisfies Laplace's equation

$$\nabla^2 \Psi = 0, \tag{5}$$

with Neumann boundary conditions

$$\left. \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial r} \right|_{r=R_{\odot}} = -B_r(R_{\odot}, \theta, \phi), \qquad \left. \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial \theta} \right|_{r=R_{\rm ss}} = \left. \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial \phi} \right|_{r=R_{\rm ss}} = 0. \tag{6}$$

Thus, the problem reduces to solving a single scalar PDE. It may readily be shown that, for fixed boundary conditions, the potential field is unique and, moreover, that it is the magnetic field with the lowest energy $(\int_V B^2/(2\mu_0)dV)$ for these boundary conditions.

Solutions of Laplace's equation in spherical coordinates are well known (Jackson, 1962). Separation of variables leads to

$$\Psi(r,\theta,\phi) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \left[f_{lm} r^{l} + g_{lm} r^{-(l+1)} \right] P_{l}^{m}(\cos\theta) e^{im\phi},$$
(7)

where the boundary condition at $R_{\rm ss}$ implies that $g_{lm} = -f_{lm}R_{\rm ss}^{2l+1}$ for each pair l, m, and $P_l^m(\cos\theta)$ are the associated Legendre polynomials. The coefficients f_{lm} are fixed by the photospheric $B_r(R_{\odot}, \theta, \phi)$ distribution to be

$$f_{lm} = -\left(lR_{\odot}^{l-1} + (l+1)R_{\odot}^{-l-2}R_{\rm ss}^{2l+1}\right)^{-1}b_{lm},\tag{8}$$

where b_{lm} are the spherical harmonic coefficients of this $B_r(R_{\odot}, \theta, \phi)$ distribution. The solution for the three field components may then be written as

$$B_r(r,\theta,\phi) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} b_{lm} c_l(r) P_l^m(\cos\theta) e^{im\phi},$$
(9)

$$B_{\theta}(r,\theta,\phi) = -\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} b_{lm} d_l(r) \frac{dP_l^m(\cos\theta)}{d\theta} e^{im\phi},$$
(10)

$$B_{\phi}(r,\theta,\phi) = -\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \frac{im}{\sin\theta} b_{lm} d_l(r) P_l^m(\cos\theta) e^{im\phi},$$
(11)

⁴ Originally, it was more common to match the line-of-sight magnetic field rather than the radial component, since this was thought to better utilise the observations (Altschuler and Newkirk Jr, 1969). But following Wang and Sheeley Jr (1992) matching the radial component is now considered more appropriate, because the photospheric magnetic field appears to be approximately radial.

where

$$c_l(r) = \left(\frac{r}{R_{\odot}}\right)^{-l-2} \left[\frac{l+1+l(r/R_{\rm ss})^{2l+1}}{l+1+l(R_{\odot}/R_{\rm ss})^{2l+1}}\right],\tag{12}$$

$$d_l(r) = \left(\frac{r}{R_{\odot}}\right)^{-l-2} \left[\frac{1 - (r/R_{\rm ss})^{2l+1}}{l+1 + l(R_{\odot}/R_{\rm ss})^{2l+1}}\right].$$
(13)

In practice, only a finite number of harmonics $l = 1, \ldots, L_{\text{max}}$ are included in the construction of the field, depending on the resolution of the input photospheric B_r distribution. Notice that the higher the mode number l, the faster the mode falls off with radial distance. This implies that the magnetic field at larger r is dominated by the low order harmonics. So calculations of the Sun's open flux (Section 4.1) with the PFSS model do not require large L_{max} . An example PFSS extrapolation is shown in Figure 10a.



Figure 6: Comparison between (a) a drawing of the real eclipse corona, (b) the standard PFSS model, and (c) the Schatten (1971) current sheet model. The current sheet model better reproduces the shapes of polar plumes and of streamer axes. Image adapted from Figure 1 of Zhao and Hoeksema (1994).

The PFSS model has a single free parameter: the radius $R_{\rm ss}$ of the source surface. Various studies have chosen this parameter by optimising agreement with observations of either white-light coronal images, X-ray coronal hole boundaries, or, by extrapolating with *in situ* observations of the interplanetary magnetic field (IMF). A value of $R_{\rm ss} = 2.5 R_{\odot}$ is commonly used, following Hoeksema *et al.* (1983), but values as low as $R_{\rm ss} = 1.3 R_{\odot}$ have been suggested (Levine *et al.*, 1977). Moreover, it appears that even with a single criterion, the optimal $R_{\rm ss}$ can vary over time as magnetic activity varies (Lee *et al.*, 2011).

A significant limitation of the PFSS model is that the actual coronal magnetic field does not become purely radial within the radius where electric currents may safely be neglected. This is clearly seen in eclipse observations (e.g., Figure 6a), as illustrated by Schatten (1971), and in the early MHD solution of Pneuman and Kopp (1971). Typically, real polar plumes bend more equatorward than those in the PFSS model, while streamers should bend more equatorward at Solar Minimum and more poleward at Solar Maximum.

Schatten (1971) showed that the PFSS solution could be improved by replacing the source surface boundary $R_{\rm ss}$ with an intermediate boundary at $R_{\rm cp} = 1.6 R_{\odot}$, and introducing electric currents in the region $r > R_{\rm cp}$. To avoid too strong a Lorentz force, these currents must be limited to regions of weak field, namely to sheets between regions of $B_r > 0$ and $B_r < 0$. These current sheets support a more realistic non-potential magnetic field in $r > R_{\rm cp}$. The computational procedure is as follows:

1. Calculate **B** in the inner region $r \leq R_{cp}$ from the observed photospheric B_r , assuming an "exterior" solution (vanishing as $r \to \infty$).

- 2. Re-orientate $\mathbf{B}(R_{\rm cp}, \theta, \phi)$ to ensure that $B_r > 0$ everywhere (this will temporarily violate $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$ on the surface $r = R_{\rm cp}$).
- 3. Compute **B** in the outer region $r > R_{cp}$ using the exterior potential field solution, but matching all three components of **B** to those of the re-orientated inner solution on R_{cp} . (These boundary conditions at R_{cp} are actually over-determined, so in practice the difference is minimised with a least-squares optimisation).
- 4. Restore the original orientation. This creates current sheets where $B_r = 0$ in the outer region, but the magnetic stresses will balance across them (because changing the sign of all three components of **B** leaves the Maxwell stress tensor unchanged).

This model generates better field structures, particularly at larger radii (Figure 6c), leading to its use in solar wind/space weather forecasting models such as the Wang-Sheeley-Arge (WSA) model (Arge and Pizzo, 2000, available at http://ccmc.gsfc.nasa.gov/). The same field-reversal technique is used in the MHS-based Current-Sheet Source Surface model (Section 3.3), and was used also by Yeh and Pneuman (1977), who iterated to find a more realistic force-balance with plasma pressure and a steady solar wind flow.

By finding the surface where $B_r/|B| = 0.97$ in their MHD model (Section 3.4), Riley *et al.* (2006) locate the true "source surface" at $r \approx 13 R_{\odot}$, comparable to the Alfvén critical point where the kinetic energy density of the solar wind first exceeds the energy density of the magnetic field (Zhao and Hoeksema, 2010). The Alfvén critical points are known not to be spherically symmetric, and this is also found in the Riley *et al.* (2006) model. In fact, a modified PFSS model allowing for a non-spherical source surface (though still at $2-3 R_{\odot}$) was proposed by Schulz *et al.* (1978). For this case, before solving with the source surface boundary, the surface shape is first chosen as a surface of constant |B| for the unbounded potential field solution.

3.2 Nonlinear force-free field models

While potential field solutions are straightforward to compute, the assumption of vanishing electric current density ($\mathbf{j} = 0$) in the volume renders them unable to model magnetic structures requiring non-zero electric currents. Observations reveal such structures both in newly-emerged active regions, e.g., X-ray sigmoids, and outside active latitudes, including long-lived H α filament channels and coronal magnetic flux ropes. A significant limitation of the potential field is that it has the lowest energy compatible with given boundary conditions. Yet many important coronal phenomena derive their energy from that stored in the magnetic field; this includes large-scale eruptive events (flares and CMEs), but also small-scale dynamics thought to be responsible for heating the corona. We still lack a detailed understanding of how these events are initiated. Such an understanding cannot be gained from potential field models, owing to the lack of free magnetic energy available for release. The models in this section, based on the force-free assumption, allow for electric currents and, hence, free magnetic energy.

In the low corona of a star like the Sun, the magnetic pressure dominates over both the gas pressure and the kinetic energy density of plasma flows. Thus to first approximation an equilibrium magnetic field must have a vanishing Lorentz force,

$$\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{B} = \mathbf{0},\tag{14}$$

where $\mathbf{j} = \nabla \times \mathbf{B}/\mu_0$ is the current density. Such a magnetic field is called *force-free*. It follows that

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \alpha \mathbf{B} \tag{15}$$

for some scalar function $\alpha(\mathbf{r})$ which is constant along magnetic field lines (this follows from $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$). The function $\alpha(\mathbf{r})$ depends only on the local geometry of field lines, not on the field strength;

it quantifies the magnetic "twist" (Figure 7). The potential field $\mathbf{j} = 0$ is recovered if $\alpha = 0$ everywhere.



Figure 7: Twisted magnetic fields. Panels (a) and (b) show the direction of twist for a force-free field line with (a) positive α , and (b) negative α , with respect to the potential field $\alpha = 0$. Panels (c) and (d) show X-ray sigmoid structures with each sign of twist, observed in active regions with the Hinode X-ray Telescope (SAO, NASA, JAXA, NAOJ). These images were taken on 2007 February 16 and 2007 February 5, respectively.

Unfortunately, for non-zero α , the extrapolation of coronal force-free magnetic fields is not straightforward. If α is constant everywhere, then taking the curl of (15) leads to the vector Helmholtz equation

$$(\nabla^2 + \alpha^2)\mathbf{B} = 0, \tag{16}$$

which is linear and may be solved analytically in spherical harmonics (Durrant, 1989). While some early attempts were made to model the global corona using such *linear* force-free fields (Nakagawa, 1973; Levine and Altschuler, 1974), their use is limited for two main reasons. Firstly, the constant α in such a solution scales as L^{-1} , where L is the horizontal size of the area under consideration. So for global solutions, only rather small values of α , close to potential, can be used. Secondly, observations of twist in magnetic structures indicate that both the sign and magnitude of α ought to vary significantly between different regions on the Sun. In addition, a mathematical problem arises if one attempts to apply the same boundary conditions as in the potential field model (namely a given distribution of B_r on $r = R_{\odot}$, and $B_{\theta} = B_{\phi} = 0$ on $r = R_{ss}$). A strictly force-free field satisfying $B_{\theta} = B_{\phi} = 0$ and $B_r \neq 0$ on an outer boundary must have $\alpha = 0$ on that boundary (Aly and Seehafer, 1993), so that $\alpha = 0$ on all open magnetic field lines. Unless $\alpha = 0$, this is incompatible with the linear force-free field.⁵ From this, it is clear that the use of *linear* force-free fields is restrictive and will not be discussed further. Instead, we will consider *nonlinear* force-free fields where α is a function of position.

The problem of extrapolating nonlinear force-free fields from given photospheric data is mathematically challenging, with open questions about the existence and uniqueness of solutions. Nevertheless, several numerical techniques have been developed in recent years, though they have largely been applied to single active regions in Cartesian geometry (Schrijver *et al.*, 2006; DeRosa *et al.*,

⁵ Durrant (1989) suggested instead to minimise the horizontal field on $r = R_{ss}$ in a least-squares sense.

2009). Applications to global solutions in spherical geometry are in their infancy: we describe here the three main approaches tried.

3.2.1 Optimisation method

Wiegelmann (2007) has developed a method for numerically computing nonlinear force-free fields in spherical geometry, based on the optimisation procedure of Wheatland *et al.* (2000) and using the *vector* magnetic field in the photosphere as input. The idea is to minimise the functional

$$L[\mathbf{B}] = \int_{V} \left(\frac{|(\nabla \times \mathbf{B}) \times \mathbf{B}|^{2}}{B^{2}} + |\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B}|^{2} \right) dV,$$
(17)

since if L = 0 then $\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{B} = 0$ and $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$ everywhere in the volume V. Differentiating (17) with respect to t, Wheatland *et al.* (2000) show that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{dL}{dt} = -\int_{V}\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} \cdot \mathbf{F} \, dV - \oint_{\partial V}\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} \cdot \mathbf{G} \, dS,\tag{18}$$

where

$$\mathbf{F} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{\Omega} \times \mathbf{B}) - \mathbf{\Omega} \times (\nabla \times \mathbf{B}) - \nabla (\mathbf{\Omega} \cdot \mathbf{B}) + \mathbf{\Omega} (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B}) + \mathbf{\Omega}^2 \mathbf{B},$$
(19)

$$\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{n} \times (\mathbf{\Omega} \times \mathbf{B}) - \mathbf{n} (\mathbf{\Omega} \cdot \mathbf{B}), \tag{20}$$

$$\mathbf{\Omega} = \frac{1}{B^2} \Big[(\nabla \times \mathbf{B}) \times \mathbf{B} - (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B}) \mathbf{B} \Big].$$
(21)

Evolving the magnetic field so that

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} = \mu \mathbf{F} \tag{22}$$

for some $\mu > 0$, and imposing $\partial \mathbf{B}/\partial t = 0$ on the boundary ∂V , will ensure that L decreases during the evolution. To apply this procedure, Wiegelmann (2007) takes an initial potential field extrapolation, and replaces B_{θ} and B_{ϕ} on $r = R_{\odot}$ with the measured horizontal magnetic field from an observed vector magnetogram. The 3D field is then iterated with Equation (22) until Lis suitably small.

Wiegelmann (2007) demonstrates that this method recovers a known analytical force-free field solution (Figure 8), although the most accurate solution is obtained only if the boundary conditions at both the photosphere and upper source surface are matched to the analytical field. The method is yet to be applied to observational data on a global scale, largely due to the limitation that vector magnetogram data are required for the lower boundary input. Such data are not yet reliably measured on a global scale, though SDO or SOLIS should be a key step forward in obtaining this data. Another consequence is that even where they are measured there is the complication that the photospheric magnetic field is not force-free. Pre-processing techniques to mitigate these problems are under development (Tadesse *et al.*, 2011).

3.2.2 Force-free electrodynamics method

Contopoulos *et al.* (2011) have recently proposed an alternative method to compute global nonlinear force-free field extrapolations, adapted from a technique applied to pulsar magnetospheres. It has the advantage that only the radial component B_r is required as observational input at the photosphere. The computation is initialised with an arbitrary 3D magnetic field such as $\mathbf{B} = 0$ or that of a dipole, and also with zero electric field \mathbf{E} . The fields \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} are then evolved through



Figure 8: Test of the optimisation method for nonlinear force-free fields with an analytical solution (figure adapted from Wiegelmann, 2007). Panel (a) shows the analytical solution (Low and Lou, 1990) and (b) shows the PFSS extrapolation used to initialise the computation. Panel (c) shows the resulting NLFFF when the boundary conditions at both $r = R_{\odot}$ and $r = R_{ss}$ are set to match the analytical solution, while panel (d) shows how the agreement is poorer if the analytical boundary conditions are applied only at the photosphere (the more realistic case for solar application).

the equations of *force-free electrodynamics*,

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} = -c\nabla \times \mathbf{E},\tag{23}$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} = c\nabla \times \mathbf{B} - 4\pi \mathbf{j},\tag{24}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0, \tag{25}$$

$$\rho_e \mathbf{E} + \frac{1}{c} \mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{B} = 0, \tag{26}$$

where $\rho_e = \nabla \cdot \mathbf{E}/(4\pi)$ is the electric charge density. The force-free condition (26) enables **j** to be eliminated from (24) since it follows that

$$\mathbf{j} = \frac{c}{4\pi} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} \frac{\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B}}{B^2} + \frac{c}{4\pi} \left(\frac{\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla \times \mathbf{B} - \mathbf{E} \cdot \nabla \times \mathbf{E}}{B^2} \right) \mathbf{B}.$$
 (27)

Equations (23) and (24) are integrated numerically with time-dependent E_{θ} , E_{ϕ} imposed on the lower boundary $r = R_{\odot}$. These are chosen so that B_r gradually evolves toward its required distribution. The photospheric driving injects electrodynamic waves into the corona, establishing a network of coronal electric currents. The outer boundary is chosen to be non-reflecting and perfectly absorbing, mimicking empty space. As the photosphere approaches the required distribution, the charge density and electric fields diminish, but the coronal currents remain. As $\mathbf{E} \to 0$ a force-free field is reached.

The authors have tested their method with an observed synoptic magnetogram: an example force-free field produced is shown in Figure 9. They find that active region magnetic fields are reproduced quite rapidly, but convergence to the weaker fields in polar regions is much slower. Slow convergence is undesirable because numerical diffusion was found to erode the coronal currents before the photosphere reached the target configuration. However, the convergence rate could be improved by choosing the initial condition to be a dipole, approximating the average polar field in the magnetogram. This highlights an important feature of the method: *non-uniqueness*. The force-free field produced is not defined solely by the photospheric boundary condition, but depends both on (i) the choice of initialisation and (ii) the path followed to reach the final state. Contopoulos *et al.* (2011) suggest that one way to choose between possible solutions would be to incorporate measurements from vector magnetograms. The model described in the next section



takes a different approach in treating the construction of the coronal magnetic field as an explicitly time-dependent problem.

Figure 9: A force-free magnetic field produced by the force-free electrodynamics method for Carrington rotation 2009. Field line colours show the twist parameter α , coloured red where $\alpha > 0$, blue where $\alpha < 0$, and light green where $\alpha \approx 0$. Image reproduced by permission from Contopoulos *et al.* (2011), copyright by Springer.

3.2.3 Flux transport and magneto-frictional method

Recently, van Ballegooijen *et al.* (2000) and Mackay and van Ballegooijen (2006) have developed a new technique to study the long-term evolution of coronal magnetic fields, which has now been applied to model the global solar corona (Yeates *et al.*, 2007, 2008b). The technique follows the build-up of free magnetic energy and electric currents in the corona by coupling together two distinct models. The first is a data driven surface flux transport model (Yeates *et al.*, 2007). This uses observations of newly emerging magnetic bipoles to produce a continuous evolution of the observed photospheric magnetic flux over long periods of time. Coupled to this is a quasi-static coronal evolution model (Mackay and van Ballegooijen, 2006; Yeates *et al.*, 2008b) which evolves the coronal magnetic field through a sequence of nonlinear force-free fields in response to the observed photospheric evolution and flux emergence. The model follows the long-term continuous build-up of free magnetic energy and electric currents in the corona. It differs significantly from the extrapolation approaches which retain no memory of magnetic flux or connectivity from one extrapolation to the next.

The photospheric component of the model evolves the radial magnetic field B_r on $r = R_{\odot}$ with a standard flux transport model (Section 2.2.1), except that newly emerging bipolar active regions are inserted not just in the photosphere but also in the 3D corona. These regions take an analytical form (Yeates *et al.*, 2007), with parameters (location, size, flux, tilt angle) chosen to match observed active regions. An additional twist parameter allows the emerging 3D regions

to be given a non-zero helicity: in principle this could be determined from vector magnetogram observations, but these are not yet routinely available.

The coronal part of the model evolves the large-scale *mean* field (van Ballegooijen *et al.*, 2000) according to the induction equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B} + \mathcal{E},\tag{28}$$

where $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$ is the mean magnetic field (with the vector potential \mathbf{A} in an appropriate gauge). The mean electromotive force \mathcal{E} describes the net effect of unresolved small-scale fluctuations, for example, braiding and current sheets produced by interaction with convective flows in the photosphere. Mackay and van Ballegooijen (2006) and Yeates *et al.* (2008b) assume the form

$$\mathcal{E} = -\eta \mathbf{j},\tag{29}$$

where

$$\eta = \eta_0 \left(1 + 0.2 \frac{|\mathbf{j}|}{B} \right) \tag{30}$$

is an effective turbulent diffusivity. The first term is a uniform background value $\eta_0 = 45 \text{ km}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$ and the second term is an enhancement in regions of strong current density, introduced to limit the twist in helical flux ropes to about one turn, as observed in solar filaments.

Rather than solving the full MHD equations for the velocity \mathbf{v} , which is not computationally feasible over long timescales, the quasi-static evolution of the coronal magnetic field is approximated using magneto-frictional relaxation (Yang *et al.*, 1986), setting

$$\mathbf{v} = \frac{1}{\nu} \frac{\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{B}}{B^2}.$$
(31)

This artificial velocity causes the magnetic field to relax towards a force-free configuration: it may be shown that the total magnetic energy decreases monotonically until $\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{B} = 0$. Here, the magneto-frictional relaxation is applied concurrently with the photospheric driving so, in practice, a dynamical equilibrium between the two is reached. At the outer boundary $r = 2.5 R_{\odot}$, Mackay and van Ballegooijen (2006) introduced an imposed radial outflow, rather than setting $B_{\theta} = B_{\phi} = 0$ exactly. This allows magnetic flux ropes to be ejected after they lose equilibrium (simulating CMEs on the real Sun), and simulates the effect of the solar wind in opening up magnetic field lines radially above this height.

Figure 10b shows an example nonlinear force-free field using this model, seen after 100 days of evolution. Figure 10a shows a PFSS extrapolation from the same photospheric B_r distribution. The coronal field in the non-potential model is significantly different, comprising highly twisted flux ropes, slightly sheared coronal arcades, and near potential open field lines. Since this model can be run for extended periods without resetting the coronal field, it can be used to study long-term helicity transport across the solar surface from low to high latitudes (Yeates *et al.*, 2008a).

There are several parameters in the model. As in the PFSS model the location of the upper boundary $R_{\rm ss}$ is arbitrary, although it has less influence since the non-potential magnetic field strength falls off more slowly with radius than that of the potential field. In the magneto-frictional evolution, the turbulent diffusivity η_0 and friction coefficient ν are arbitrary, and must be calibrated by comparison with observed structures or timescales for flux ropes to form or lose equilibrium. Finally a 3D model is required for newly-emerging active regions: the simple analytical bipoles of the existing simulations could in fact be replaced with more detailed extrapolations from observed photospheric fields in active regions.



Figure 10: (a) Example of a Potential Field Source Surface extrapolation. (b) Example of a non-potential coronal field produced by the global coronal evolution model of Mackay and van Ballegooijen (2006) and Yeates *et al.* (2008b). The grey-scale image shows the radial field at the photosphere and the thin lines the coronal field lines. Image reproduced by permission from Yeates *et al.* (2010b), copyright by AGU.

3.3 Magnetohydrostatic models

Models in this category are based on analytical solutions to the full magnetohydrostatic (MHS) equations,

$$\mathbf{j} \times \mathbf{B} - \nabla p - \rho \nabla \psi = 0, \tag{32}$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{j},\tag{33}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0, \tag{34}$$

where for the coronal application $\psi = -GM/r$ is taken to be the gravitational potential. Threedimensional solutions that are general enough to accept arbitrary $B_r(R_{\odot}, \theta, \phi)$ as input have been developed by Bogdan and Low (1986) and further by Neukirch (1995). The basic idea is to choose a particular functional form of **j**, and use the freedom to choose ρ and p to obtain an analytical solution. Note that, while the distributions of ρ , p, and **B** are self-consistent in these solutions, the 3D forms of ρ and p are prescribed in the solution process. In particular, they cannot be constrained a priori to satisfy any particular equation of state or energy equation. A realistic treatment of the thermodynamics of the plasma requires a full MHD model (Section 3.4).

The solutions that have been used to extrapolate photospheric data have a current density of the form

$$\mathbf{j} = \alpha \mathbf{B} + \xi(r) \nabla (\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{B}) \times \mathbf{e}_r,\tag{35}$$

where

$$\xi(r) = \frac{1}{r^2} - \frac{1}{(r+a)^2} \tag{36}$$

and α , a are constant parameters. Thus, the current comprises a field-aligned part and a part perpendicular to gravity. For this form of **j**, Neukirch (1995) shows that the solution takes the

form

$$B_r = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \sum_{j=1}^{2} A_{lm}^{(j)} \frac{l(l+1)}{r} u_l^{(j)}(r) P_l^m(\cos\theta) e^{im\phi},$$
(37)

$$B_{\theta} = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \sum_{j=1}^{2} A_{lm}^{(j)} \left[\frac{1}{r} \frac{d(ru_{l}^{(j)}(r))}{dr} \frac{dP_{l}^{m}(\cos\theta)}{d\theta} + \frac{\mu_{0}\alpha mi}{\sin\theta} u_{l}^{(j)}(r)P_{l}^{m}(\cos\theta) \right] e^{im\phi}, \quad (38)$$

$$B_{\phi} = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \sum_{j=1}^{2} A_{lm}^{(j)} \left[\frac{im}{r \sin \theta} \frac{d(ru_{l}^{(j)}(r))}{dr} P_{l}^{m}(\cos \theta) - \mu_{0} \alpha u_{l}^{(j)}(r) \frac{dP_{l}^{m}(\cos \theta)}{d\theta} \right] e^{im\phi}, \quad (39)$$

where

$$u_l^{(1)}(r) = \frac{\sqrt{r+a}}{r} J_{l+1/2} \Big(\alpha(r+a) \Big), \tag{40}$$

$$u_l^{(2)}(r) = \frac{\sqrt{r+a}}{r} N_{l+1/2} \Big(\alpha(r+a) \Big).$$
(41)

Here, $J_{l+1/2}$ and $N_{l+1/2}$ are Bessel functions of the first and second kinds, respectively. The coefficients $A_{lm}^{(j)}$ are determined from the boundary conditions, as in the PFSS model. The plasma pressure and density then take the forms

$$p(r,\theta,\phi) = p_0(r) - \frac{\xi(r)}{2} (\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{B})^2, \qquad (42)$$

$$\rho(r,\theta,\phi) = \rho_0(r) + \frac{r^2}{GM} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{d\xi(r)}{dr} (\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{B})^2 + r\xi(r) \mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla(\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{B}) \right).$$
(43)

The functions $p_0(r)$ and $\rho_0(r)$ describe a spherically symmetric background atmosphere satisfying $-\nabla p_0 - \rho_0 \nabla \psi = 0$, and may be freely chosen.

Solutions of this form have been applied to the coronal extrapolation problem by Zhao *et al.* (2000), Rudenko (2001), and Ruan *et al.* (2008).⁶ These solutions are of exterior type, i.e., with $|B| \to 0$ as $r \to \infty$. For $\alpha \neq 0$, the latter condition follows from the properties of both types of Bessel function.

There are two free parameters in the solution that may be varied to best fit observations: a and α . Broadly speaking, the effect of increasing a is to inflate/expand the magnetic field, while the effect of increasing $|\alpha|$ is to twist/shear the magnetic field. This is illustrated in Figure 11. Note that too large a value of α would lead to zeros of the Bessel functions falling within the computational domain, creating magnetic islands that are unphysical for the solar corona (Neukirch, 1995). The (unbounded) potential field solution $\mathbf{j} = 0$ is recovered for $\alpha = a = 0$, while if a = 0 then $\mathbf{j} = \alpha \mathbf{B}$ and we recover the linear force-free field case. If $\alpha = 0$ then the current is purely horizontal and the solution reduces to Case III of Bogdan and Low (1986). Gibson and Bagenal (1995) applied this earlier solution to the Solar Minimum corona, although they showed that it was not possible to match both the density distribution in the corona and the photospheric magnetic field to observations. This problem is likely to be exacerbated at Solar Maximum. Similarly, Ruan et al. (2008) found that the strongest density perturbation in this model appears in active regions in the low corona. Preventing the density from becoming negative can require an unrealistically large background density ρ_0 at these radii, particularly for large values of the parameter a.

Another limitation of this magnetic field solution is that the magnetic energy is unbounded, since the Bessel functions decay too slowly as $r \to \infty$. But, as pointed out by Zhao *et al.* (2000),

⁶ The expression for **B** quoted by Zhao *et al.* (2000) contains a typographical error (in their Equation 2), as does that by Ruan *et al.* (2008) (in their Equation 8).



Figure 11: Effect of the parameters a and α in the MHS solution for a simple dipolar photospheric magnetic field. Closed magnetic field lines expand when a is changed (left column), while the shear increases as the field-aligned current parameter α is increased (middle column). If both current systems act together (right column) then the field expands and becomes twisted. Image reproduced by permission from Zhao *et al.* (2000), copyright by AAS.

the model is applicable only up to the cusp points of streamers, above which the solar wind outflow must be taken into account. So this problem is irrelevant in practical applications. For the $\alpha = 0$ solution of Bogdan and Low (1986), Zhao and Hoeksema (1994) showed how the model can be extended to larger radii by adding the "current sheet" extension of Schatten (1971) (described in Section 3.1). Instead of using an "exterior" solution in the external region they introduce an outer source surface boundary at $R_{ss} \approx 14 R_{\odot}$, corresponding to the Alfvén critical point. The resulting model better matches the shape of coronal structures and the observed IMF (Zhao and Hoeksema, 1995) and is often termed the Current Sheet Source Surface (CSSS) model, though the authors term it HCCSSS: "Horizontal Current Current Sheet Source Surface", to explicitly distinguish it from the Schatten (1971) model using potential fields. This CSSS model has also been applied by Schüssler and Baumann (2006) to model the Sun's open magnetic flux (Section 4.1).

Finally, we note that Wiegelmann *et al.* (2007) have extended the numerical optimisation method (Section 3.2) to magnetohydrostatic equilibria, demonstrating that it reproduces the analytical solution of Neukirch (1995). This numerical technique offers the possibility of more realistic pressure and density profiles compared to the analytical solutions, although there is the problem that boundary conditions on these quantities must be specified.

3.4 Full magnetohydrodynamic models

In recent years, a significant advance has been made in the construction of realistic 3D global MHD models (Riley *et al.*, 2006; DeVore and Antiochos, 2008; Lionello *et al.*, 2009; Downs *et al.*, 2010; Feng *et al.*, 2012). Such models are required to give a self-consistent description of the interaction between the magnetic field and the plasma in the Sun's atmosphere. They allow for comparison with observed plasma emission (Section 4.4), and enable more consistent modeling of the solar wind, so that the simulation domain may extend far out into the heliosphere (e.g., Riley *et al.*, 2011; Tóth *et al.*, 2012; Feng *et al.*, 2012). On the other hand, additional boundary conditions are required (for example, on density or temperature), and the problem of non-uniqueness of solutions found in nonlinear force-free field models continues to apply here. While these models are sometimes used to simulate eruptive phenomena such as coronal mass ejections, in this review we consider only their application to non-eruptive phenomena. For applications to eruptive phenomena the reader is directed to the reviews of Forbes *et al.* (2006) and Chen (2011).



Figure 12: Comparison of PFSS extrapolations (right column) with steady state MHD solutions (left column) for two Carrington rotations. Image reproduced by permission from Figure 5 of Riley *et al.* (2006), copyright by AAS.

33

An example of the resistive MHD equations used in the paper of Lionello et al. (2009) for constructing a steady-state solution are:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla . \left(\rho \mathbf{v} \right) = 0, \tag{44}$$

$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} + \mathbf{v}.\nabla \mathbf{v}\right) = \frac{1}{c}\mathbf{J} \times \mathbf{B} - \nabla(p + p_w) + \rho \mathbf{g} + \nabla.(\nu \rho \nabla \mathbf{v}), \tag{45}$$

$$\frac{1}{\gamma - 1} \left(\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} + \mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla T \right) = -T \nabla \cdot \mathbf{v} + \frac{m}{k_{\rho}} S, \tag{46}$$

$$S = -\nabla \cdot \mathbf{q} - n_e n_p Q(t) + H_{\rm ch}, \qquad (47)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \frac{4\pi}{c} \mathbf{J},\tag{48}$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t},\tag{49}$$

$$\mathbf{E} + \frac{\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}}{c} = \eta \mathbf{J},\tag{50}$$

where $\mathbf{B}, \mathbf{J}, \mathbf{E}, \rho, \mathbf{v}, p, T, \mathbf{g}, \eta, \nu, Q(t), n_e, n_p, \gamma = 5/3, H_{ch}, \mathbf{q}, p_w$ are the magnetic field, electric current density, electric field, plasma density, velocity, pressure, temperature, gravitational acceleration, resistivity, kinematic viscosity, radiative losses, electron and proton number densities, polytropic index, coronal heating term, heat flux, and wave pressure, respectively. Different formulations of the MHD equations may be seen in the papers of DeVore and Antiochos (2008), Downs *et al.* (2010), and Feng *et al.* (2012) where key differences are the inclusion of resistive or viscous terms and the use of adiabatic or non-adiabatic energy equations.

To date, non-eruptive 3D global MHD simulations have been used to model the solar corona through two distinct forms of simulation. Firstly, there is the construction of steady state coronal solutions from fixed photospheric boundary conditions (Riley et al., 2006; Vásquez et al., 2008; Lionello et al., 2009; Downs et al., 2010). To compute these solutions, the system is initialised by (i) specifying the photospheric distribution of flux (often from observations), (ii) constructing an initial potential magnetic field and, finally, (iii) superimposing a spherically symmetric solar wind solution. Equations (44) - (50) (or their equivalents) are then integrated in time until a new equilibrium is found. A key emphasis of this research is the direct comparison of the resulting coronal field and plasma emission with that seen in observations (Section 4.4). In the paper of Vásquez et al. (2008) a quantitative comparison of two global MHD models (Stanford: Hayashi, 2005, and Michigan: Cohen et al., 2007), with coronal densities determined through rotational tomography was carried out. In general the models reproduced a realistic density variation at low latitudes and below $3.5 R_{\odot}$, however, both had problems reproducing the correct density in the polar regions. In contrast to this construction of steady state MHD solutions, advances in computing power have recently enabled global non-eruptive MHD simulations with time-dependent photospheric boundary conditions. These boundary conditions have been specified both in an idealised form (e.g., Lionello et al., 2005; Edmondson et al., 2010) and from synoptic magnetograms (Linker et al., 2011). An initial application of these models has been to simulate the Sun's open flux and coronal holes: see Section 4.2.

To quantify the difference between the magnetic field produced in global MHD simulations and PFSS extrapolations, Riley *et al.* (2006) carried out a direct comparison of the two techniques. The results from each technique are compared in Figure 12 for periods of low activity (top) and high activity (bottom). An important limitation of this study was that, for both the PFSS model and MHD model, only the radial magnetic field distribution at the photosphere was specified in order to construct the coronal field. Under this assumption, a good agreement was found between the two fields where the only differences were (i) slightly more open flux and larger coronal holes

in the MHD simulation, and (ii) longer field lines and more realistic cusp like structures in the MHD simulations. While the two set of simulations closely agree, as discussed by the authors it is important to note that if vector magnetic field measurements are applied on a global scale as an additional lower boundary condition, then significant differences may result.

While global MHD models have mostly been applied to the Sun, Cohen *et al.* (2010) applied the models to observations from AB Doradus. Through specifying the lower boundary condition from a ZDI magnetic map and also taking into account the rotation (but not differential rotation) of the star the authors showed that the magnetic structure deduced from the MHD simulations was very different from that deduced from PFSS models. Due to the rapid rotation a strong azimuthal field component is created. They also considered a number of simulations where the base coronal density was varied and showed that the resulting mass and angular momentum loss, which are important for the spin-down of such stars, may be orders of magnitude higher than found for the Sun.

4 Application of Magnetic Flux Transport and Coronal Models

In this section, we survey the combined application of magnetic flux transport (Section 2.2) and coronal models (Section 3) to describe a number of phenomena on the Sun. These include the Sun's open magnetic flux (Section 4.1), coronal holes (Section 4.2), and the hemispheric pattern of solar filaments (Section 4.3). Finally, the application of global MHD models to predict the plasma emission from the Sun is described in Section 4.4. It should be noted that when the magnetic flux transport and coronal models are combined, two distinct modeling techniques are applied, each of which have their own limitations. It is therefore important to consider how the limitations of each affect the results. In addition to this, some models also use observations as input. These observations also have many practical limitations related to calibration, resolution, instrumental effects and data reduction effects. It is currently beyond the scope of the present article to consider the full consequences of these combined uncertainties and limitations. However, all readers should keep this in mind when assessing results and outcomes. In each of the following sections a brief description of the main properties of each coronal phenomenon is first given, before discussing the application of the modeling techniques.

4.1 Open flux

The Sun's open magnetic flux is the part of the Sun's large-scale magnetic field that extends from the solar surface out into interplanetary space, where it forms what is known as the Interplanetary Magnetic Field (IMF). Understanding the origin and variation of the open flux is important as:

- It is the origin of the high speed solar wind and IMF, both of which directly interact with the Earth's magnetosphere.
- Irregularities or curvatures in the IMF modulate the flux of high energy Cosmic Rays that impact the Earth's upper atmosphere. Such impacts produce ¹⁴C (Stuiver and Quay, 1980) and ¹⁰Be (Beer *et al.*, 1990) isotopes which are found in tree rings and ice cores, respectively. These isotopes may be used as historical data sets of solar activity since there is an anti-correlation between the strength of open flux and the abundance of the isotopes.
- The open flux has been correlated with cloud cover variations (Svensmark and Friis-Christensen, 1997; Svensmark, 1998), however, any relation to global warming is very uncertain.
- Strong correlations are found between the Sun's open flux and total solar irradiance (TSI, Lockwood, 2002). Therefore historical data such as ¹⁴C and ¹⁰Be, which allow us to deduce the amount of open flux, may also be used as a proxy for past TSI variations.

Our present day understanding of the Sun's open flux comes mainly from an important result from the Ulysses mission: the magnitude of the radial IMF component in the heliosphere is independent of latitude (Balogh *et al.*, 1995). Thus, magnetometer measurements at a single location at 1 AU may be used to deduce the total open flux simply by multiplying by the surface area of a sphere. In Figure 13, the variation of open flux relative to sunspot number can be seen for the last 3.5 solar cycles. Over a solar cycle the open flux varies at most by a factor of two, even though the surface flux shows a much larger variation. However, this variation is not regular from one cycle to the next. It is clear from the graph that Cycles 21 and 22 have a much larger variation in open flux than Cycles 20 and 23, indicating a complex relationship between the surface and open flux. A key property of the open flux is that it slightly lags behind the variation in sunspot number and peaks 1-2 years after cycle maximum. The peak time of open flux therefore occurs around the


Figure 13: Graph of open flux variation (top) and sunspot number (bottom) for cycles 20-23. Image reproduced by permission from Lockwood *et al.* (2004), copyright by EGU.

same time as polar field reversal, indicating that contributions from both polar coronal holes and low-latitude coronal holes must be important.

While both direct and indirect observations exist for the Sun's open flux, such measurements cannot be made for other stars. Due to this, theoretical models which predict the magnitude and spatial distribution of open flux are used. Within the stellar context, the distribution of open flux with latitude (McIvor *et al.*, 2006) plays a key role in determining the mass and angular momentum loss (Cohen *et al.*, 2007) and subsequently the spin down of stars (Weber and Davis Jr, 1967; Schrijver *et al.*, 2003; Holzwarth and Jardine, 2007).

Over the last 20 years a variety of techniques has been developed to model the origin and variation of the Sun's open flux. One category are the semi-empirical magnitude variation models. These follow only the total open flux, and are driven by observational data. Different models use either geomagnetic data from Earth (Lockwood *et al.*, 1999, 2009), sunspot numbers (Solanki *et al.*, 2000, 2002), or coronal mass ejection rates (Owens *et al.*, 2011). Such models have been used to extrapolate the open flux back as far as 1610 (in the case of sunspot numbers), although the results remain uncertain. However, these models consider only the total integrated open flux, not its spatial distribution and origin on the Sun. To describe the latter, coupled photospheric and coronal magnetic field models have been applied. The photospheric field is specified either from synoptic magnetic field observations or from magnetic flux transport simulations (Section 2.2), and a wide variety of coronal models have been used. These range from potential field source surface (PFSS, Section 3.1) models to current sheet source surface (CSSS, Section 3.1) models and more recently to nonlinear force-free (NLFF, Section 3.2) models. In all of these coronal models, field lines reaching the upper boundary are deemed to be open, and the total (unsigned) magnetic flux through this boundary represents the open flux.

Wang and Sheeley Jr (2002) combined synoptic magnetograms and PFSS models to compute the open flux from 1971 to 1998. The synoptic magnetograms originated from either Wilcox Solar Observatory (WSO, 1976–1995) or Mount Wilson Observatory (MWO, 1971–1976, 1995– 1998). The authors found that to reproduce a good agreement to IMF field measurements at 1 AU, they had to multiply the magnetograms by a strong latitude-dependent correction factor $(4.5-2.5 \sin^2 \lambda)$. This factor, used to correct for saturation effects in the magnetograph observations, significantly enhanced the low latitude fields compared to the high latitude fields but gave the desired result.



Figure 14: Graph of (a) IMF variation (grey line) and PFSS approximations to the IMF field (collared lines). (b) Non-potential open flux estimate (thick black line) along with IMF variation (grey line) and PFSS approximations to the IMF (coloured lines) over a 6 month period. Image reproduced by permission from Yeates *et al.* (2010b), copyright by AGU.

The use of such a latitude dependent correction factor was recently questioned by Riley (2007), who pointed out that the correction factor used by Wang and Sheeley Jr (2002) was only correct for use on MWO data and did not apply to WSO data. Instead WSO data, which made up the majority of the magnetogram time series used, should have a constant correction factor of 1.85 (Svalgaard, 2006). On applying this appropriate correction and repeating the calculation, Riley (2007) showed that PFSS models gave a poor fit to observed IMF data (see Figure 4 of Riley, 2007). To resolve the difference, Riley (2007) put forward an alternative explanation. He assumed that the open flux has two contributions: (i) a variable background contribution based on the photospheric field distribution on the Sun at any time, such as that obtained from the PFSS model, and (ii) a short term enhancement due to interplanetary coronal mass ejections (ICMEs), for which he gave an order-of-magnitude estimate. Through combining the two a good agreement to IMF field observations was found.

As an alternative to synoptic magnetic field observations, magnetic flux transport models have been widely used to provide the lower boundary condition in studies of the origin and variation of the Sun's open flux. A key element in using magnetic flux transport simulations is that the distribution and strength of the high latitude field are determined by the properties and subsequent evolution of the bipoles which emerge at lower latitudes. Hence, assuming the correct input and advection parameters, the model will produce a better estimate of the polar field strength compared to that found in magnetogram observations which suffer from severe line-of-sight effects above 60° latitude. Initial studies (using a PFSS coronal model) considered the variation in open flux from a single bipole (Wang *et al.*, 2000; Mackay *et al.*, 2002a) as it was advected across the solar surface. Through doing so, the combined effects of latitude of emergence, Joy's Law and differential rotation on the open flux was quantified. Later studies extended these simulations to include the full solar cycle, but obtained conflicting results.

To start with, Mackay *et al.* (2002b), using idealised simulations and commonly used transport parameters, found that such parameters when combined with PFSS models produced an incorrect time-variation of open flux. The open flux peaked at cycle minimum, completely out of phase with the solar cycle and inconsistent with the observed 1-2 year lag behind solar maximum. The authors attributed this to the fact that in PFSS models only the lowest order harmonics (see Section 3.1), which are strongest at cycle minimum and weakest at maximum, significantly contribute to the open flux. They concluded that the only way to change this was to include non-potential effects (see below) which would increase the open flux contribution from higher order harmonics during cycle maximum. In response, Wang *et al.* (2002b) repeated the simulation and found similar results when using bipole fluxes and parameters deduced from observations. However, they were able to obtain the correct variation in open flux by both trebling all observed bipole fluxes and increasing the rate of meridional flow to 25 m s⁻¹ (dash-dot-dot-dot line in Figure 3b). These changes had the effect of significantly enhancing the low latitude field at cycle maximum but weakening the polar fields at cycle minimum. As a result the correct open flux variation was found. Opposing such a strong variation in the input parameters, Schüssler and Baumann (2006) put forward another possibility. Through modifying the magnetic flux transport model to include a radial decay term

possibility. Through modifying the magnetic flux transport model to include a radial decay term for B_r (Section 2.2), and changing the coronal model to a CSSS model with $R_{\rm cp} \sim 1.7 R_{\odot}$ and $R_{\rm ss} \sim 10 R_{\odot}$ (Section 3.3), they found that the correct open flux variation could be obtained, but only if new bipole tilt angles were decreased from 0.5λ to 0.15λ . Later studies by Cameron *et al.* (2010) using the same technique showed that the radial decay term was not required if the tilt angles of the bipoles varied from one cycle to the next, with stronger cycles having weaker tilt angles.

The discussion above shows that, similar to the polar field strength (Section 2.2), the correct variation of the Sun's open flux may be obtained through a variety of methods. These include variations in the bipole tilt angles, rates of meridional flow, and different coronal models. More recently, Yeates et al. (2010b) showed that standard values for bipole tilt angles and meridional flow may produce the correct variation of open flux if a more realistic physics-based coronal model is applied (see Section 3.2.3). By allowing for electric currents in the corona, a better agreement to the IMF measurements can be found compared to those from PFSS models. Figure 14a compares various PFSS extrapolations using different magnetogram data (coloured lines) to the measured IMF field (grey line). In this graph the discrepancy between all potential field models and the IMF is particularly apparent around cycle maximum. To resolve this, Yeates et al. (2010b) ran the global non-potential model described in Section 3.2.3 over four distinct 6-month periods (labeled A-D in Figure 14a). Two periods were during low solar activity (A and D) and two during high solar activity (B and C). The results of the simulation for period B can be seen in Figure 14b. In the plot, the dashed lines denote open flux from various PFSS extrapolations, the grey line the observed IMF field strength and the black solid line the open flux from the non-potential global simulation. This clearly gives a much better agreement in absolute magnitude terms compared to the PFSS models. Yeates et al. (2010b) deduced that the open flux in their model has three main sources. The first is a background level due to the location of the flux sources. This is the component that may be captured by PFSS models, or by steady-state MHD models initialised with PFSS extrapolations (Feng et al., 2012). The second is an enhancement due to electric currents, which results in an inflation of the magnetic field, visible in Figure 14b as an initial steady increase of the open flux curve during the first month to a higher base level. This inflation is the result of large scale flows such as differential rotation and meridional flows along with flux emergence, reconfiguring the coronal field. A similar inflation due to electric currents enhances the open flux in the CSSS model, although there the pattern of currents is arbitrarily imposed, rather than arising physically. Finally, there is a sporadic component to the open flux as a result of flux rope ejections representing CMEs similar to that proposed by Riley (2007). While this model gives one explanation for the open flux shortfall in PFSS models, we note that alternative explanations have been put forward by a variety of authors (Lockwood et al., 2009; Fisk and Zurbuchen, 2006). Again, although models have been successful in explaining the variation of the open flux, there is still an uncertainty on the true physics required. Free parameters that presently allow for multiple models must be constrained by future observations. At the same time, it is evident from using existing observations that care must be taken in their use. In particular, the effect on the modeling results of practical limitations such as calibration, resolution, instrumental effects, and data reduction effects must be quantified.

Although they include the spatial distribution of open flux, the models described above have mainly focused on the total amount of open flux, because this may be compared with in situ measurements. However, these models can also be used to consider how open flux evolves across the solar surface, and its relationship to coronal holes. Presently, there are two opposing views on the nature of the evolution of open flux. The first represents that of Fisk and Schwadron (2001) who suggest that open flux may diffuse across the solar surface through interchange reconnection. In this model, the open flux may propagate into and through closed field regions. The second view represents that of Antiochos *et al.* (2007) who postulate that open flux can never be isolated and thus cannot propagate through closed field regions. Results of global MHD simulations testing these ideas are discussed in the next section.



Figure 15: Effect of differential rotation on open field regions for a bipole (black/white) located in a dipolar background field (red/dark blue). The open region ("coronal hole") in the North (yellow) rotates almost rigidly, while that in the South (light blue) is sheared. Image reproduced by permission from Wang *et al.* (1996), copyright by AAAS.

4.2 Coronal holes

Coronal holes are low density regions of the corona which appear dark in X-rays or EUV, or as light, blurred patches in He I 10830 Å (Cranmer, 2009). It has been known since the *Skylab* era of the early 1970s that coronal holes are associated with regions of open magnetic field lines (Section 4.1), along which plasma escapes into the heliosphere (Zirker, 1977). They therefore play an important role in understanding the sources of different solar wind streams and the relationship between the Sun and the heliosphere.

The basic link between coronal holes and open magnetic field was found using PFSS extrapolations from synoptic magnetogram observations. While the open field regions in such extrapolations produce pleasing agreement with observed coronal hole boundaries (Levine, 1982; Wang *et al.*, 1996; Neugebauer *et al.*, 1998; Luhmann *et al.*, 2002), our understanding has been enhanced by coupling coronal magnetic models with photospheric simulations, in the following ways:

- 1. Photospheric simulations can be used to produce a more accurate picture of the global magnetic field by assimilating observed data and following the evolution on timescales shorter than the 27 days of the synoptic charts. Schrijver and DeRosa (2003) found that some open field regions in such a model were quite stable for weeks or even months, whereas others fluctuated rapidly.
- 2. The photospheric evolution can be imposed or controlled, in order to test hypotheses for the behaviour of coronal holes, and to try to understand the origin of their observed properties.

We outline here the studies that fall into the second category. Firstly, a series of papers by Wang, Sheeley, and co-workers, coupling surface flux transport to PFSS extrapolations, has significantly added to our understanding of coronal hole dynamics. By isolating different terms in the flux transport model, Wang and Sheeley Jr (1990) demonstrate how each of the terms in the flux transport model play their roles in producing the global pattern of coronal holes. Supergranular diffusion spreads out active region flux so as to create unipolar areas containing open flux, and also facilitates the build up of trailing polarity holes in each hemisphere after Solar Maximum by annihilating leading polarity flux at the equator. Differential rotation helps to accelerate the formation of axisymmetric polar holes by symmetrising the active region flux distribution. Meridional flow (i) concentrates flux at the poles – preventing the polar holes from spreading to lower latitudes, (ii) hastens the decay of low-latitude holes by transporting them to mid-latitudes where differential rotation is more efficient, and (iii) impedes cancellation across the equator, thus reducing the flux imbalance in each hemisphere.

A striking observation arising from Skylab was that coronal holes rotate differently from the underlying photosphere. This is exemplified by the Skylab "Coronal Hole 1". Nash et al. (1988) were able to reproduce and explain the behaviour of this hole using the coupled flux transport and PFSS model (see also Wang and Sheeley Jr, 1993). The mechanism is illustrated by their model of a single bipolar active region in a dipolar background field (Wang and Sheeley Jr, 1990; Wang et al., 1996, reproduced here in Figure 15). There are two important points. The first is that coronal hole boundaries in the PFSS model are determined by the *global* magnetic structure of the coronal field. This is because the source surface field depends only on the lowest order spherical harmonics. In particular, the open field regions in Figure 15 are not simply a superposition of those that would be obtained from the bipole and background fields individually (Wang et al., 1996). Hence, it need not be surprising that coronal holes are observed to rotate differently from the footpoints of individual field lines. The second point is that the rotation rate is determined by the non-axisymmetric component only. In other words, the "coronal hole extension" in Figure 15 must rotate approximately with the bipole giving rise to it. It follows that the rotation rate of the coronal hole matches that of the photospheric latitude where the bipole is located, not necessarily the latitude where the open field lines have their footpoints. This explains why the northern and southern coronal hole extensions in Figure 15 behave differently: the bipole flux causing the northern hole extension is located in a narrow band close to the equator, so that the hole rotates rigidly with the equatorial 27-day period. On the other hand, the flux causing the southern hole extension is spread between 0° and 40° latitude, so that this hole is considerably sheared by differential rotation. The same idea explains why rigidly rotating coronal holes are more prevalent in the declining phase of the solar cycle: during this phase, the non-axisymmetric flux is concentrated more at lower latitudes.

More recently, new insights into coronal hole evolution have started to come from coupling global MHD models (Section 3.4) to surface flux transport. For example, an important implication of the PFSS model for coronal magnetic fields is that continual magnetic reconnection is necessary to maintain the current-free field (Wang and Sheeley Jr, 2004). This has been tested in a global MHD model by Lionello *et al.* (2005), who applied differential rotation to a configuration consisting of a single bipole in a dipolar background field. They confirm the results of Wang *et al.* (1996)

that the coronal hole extension rotates nearly rigidly without significant change, even when the surface field is significantly sheared by differential rotation. The dominant reconnection process was found to be interchange reconnection, with continual reconnection opening field on the eastern hole boundary and closing it on the western boundary. In some cases, when field line footpoints pass over the coronal hole boundaries multiple times, multiple openings and closing occur. However, it should be noted that these simulations used a uniform resistivity orders of magnitude greater than that in the real corona, so that reconnection may be less efficient in reality. Fisk (1996) has proposed an alternative scenario where open field lines continually circulate in latitude and longitude as their footpoints rotate differentially. This process was applied to explain the origin of high latitude Solar Energetic Particles (SEPs) seen by Ulysses (Keppler et al., 1995; Maclennan et al., 1995), which are thought to originate in low latitude corotating interacting regions (CIRs, McDonald et al., 1976). However, in a test with their global MHD model and an initial tilted dipole field, Lionello et al. (2006) found that although field lines did move in latitude, the coronal hole boundaries rotated in a manner consistent with the extrapolation models, and not perfectly rigidly as predicted by Fisk (1996). This meant that the latitudinal excursion of around 25° found in the simulations was insufficient to explain that required by Fisk (1996).



Figure 16: Simulation results from the paper of Linker *et al.* (2011) where a bipole is advected from an open field region (shaded area on the solar surface) to a closed field region across the boundary of a coronal hole. Red denotes positive photospheric flux and blue negative flux. The green lines denote (a) initially open field lines of the bipole which then successively close down (b) – (d) as the bipole is advected across the coronal hole boundary. Image reproduced by permission, copyright by AAS.

Recently, Linker *et al.* (2011) have applied their global MHD model to test another hypothesis, namely, that the total amount of open flux is conserved. This has been proposed by Fisk and

co-workers based on heliospheric observations (Fisk and Schwadron, 2001). They propose that open flux is transported by interchange reconnection (between open and closed field lines), but not created or destroyed through other forms of reconnection. A feature of this model is that open field lines may be transported through closed field regions in a random manner during the reversal of the polar field. In their simulations, Linker et al. (2011) start with a synoptic magnetogram for CR1913, but add two small bipoles of varying orientation inside one of the large equatorward coronal hole extensions. They then advect the bipoles through the coronal hole from the open to closed field regions. The idea is to test (a) whether open flux associated with the bipoles can be transported out of the coronal hole and into the closed field region (as required by the interchange model; Fisk and Zurbuchen, 2006), and (b) whether isolated coronal holes can exist in each hemisphere. The results (Figure 16) seem to contradict the requirements of the interchange model, and to uphold the conjecture of Antiochos et al. (2007), namely that what appear to be isolated coronal holes in each hemisphere, are in fact, always connected (by very thin corridors) of open flux to the polar holes in each hemisphere. These thin corridors may intersect with strong field regions that form part of the streamer belt. Thus, they may have a non-negligible contribution to the amount of open flux, which may help resolve the discrepancy between the amount of open magnetic flux obtained in models and that directly observed through IMF measurements (Section 4.1). Following this, Titov et al. (2011) constructed a topological model for the open flux corridors that connect coronal holes. Further studies by Edmondson et al. (2009, 2010) considered idealised case studies of how magnetic reconnection affects the boundaries of coronal holes when either a bipole is (i) advected across the coronal boundary (Edmondson et al., 2010) or (ii) stressed by rotational motions (Edmondson et al., 2009). In line with the conjecture of Antiochos et al. (2007) and quasi-steady model results of Linker *et al.* (2011), the authors see a smooth transition of the open flux where the open field regions are never isolated. Such evolution of coronal hole boundaries along with the translation and opening/closing of magnetic field lines has important consequences for the solar wind. A full discussion of this is beyond the scope of the present review but details can be found in Cranmer (2009) and Antiochos *et al.* (2012).

4.3 Hemispheric pattern of solar filaments

Solar filaments (a.k.a. prominences) are cool dense regions of plasma ($T \sim 10,000$ K) suspended in the hotter ($T \sim 10^6$ K) solar corona. Coronal magnetic fields are key to the existence of solar filaments, where they provide both support against gravity and insulation of the cool material from the surrounding hot corona. The main observational properties of filaments and the theoretical models used to describe them are described in the reviews by Labrosse *et al.* (2010) and Mackay *et al.* (2010).

In recent years, solar filaments and their birth grounds called filament channels (Gaizauskas, 1998), which always overlie photospheric polarity inversion lines (PILs), have been classified by the orientation of their main axial magnetic field. This orientation, named the filament chirality (Martin *et al.*, 1994) may take one of two forms: dextral or sinistral. Dextral/sinistral filaments have an axial magnetic field that points to the right/left when the main axis of the filament is viewed from the positive polarity side of the PIL. In force-free field models (Aulanier and Démoulin, 1998; Mackay *et al.*, 1999; van Ballegooijen *et al.*, 2000; Mackay and van Ballegooijen, 2005) this chirality is directly related to the dominant sign of magnetic helicity that is contained within the filament positive helicity. As filaments and their channels form over a wide range of latitudes on the Sun, ranging from the active belts to the polar crown, they may be regarded as useful indicators of sheared non-potential fields and magnetic helicity within the solar corona.

A surprising feature of the chirality of filaments is that it displays a large-scale hemispheric pattern: dextral/sinistral filaments dominate in the northern/southern hemispheres, respectively

43

(Martin *et al.*, 1994; Zirker *et al.*, 1997; Pevtsov *et al.*, 2003; Yeates *et al.*, 2007). This pattern is intriguing as it is exactly opposite to that expected from differential rotation acting on a North-South coronal arcade. Although dextral/sinistral filaments dominate in the northern/southern hemisphere, observations show that exceptions to this pattern do occur. Therefore any model which tries to explain the formation of filaments and their dominant axial magnetic fields must explain not only the origin of this hemispheric pattern but also why exceptions to it arise.

Since filament chirality is directly related to magnetic helicity (dextral ~ negative, sinistral ~ positive) the formation and transport of filaments across the solar surface is an indication of the global pattern of magnetic helicity transport on the Sun (Yeates *et al.*, 2008a), a key feature in explaining many eruptive phenomena. Static extrapolation techniques (including MHD models of the relaxation type) cannot study the generation nor transport of this helicity across the surface of the Sun. This can only be achieved with models that couple the evolution of both photospheric and coronal fields over long periods of time.

The first attempt to explain the hemispheric pattern of filaments using global magnetic flux transport models was carried out by van Ballegooijen et al. (1998). By using observed magnetic flux distributions and initial coronal fields which were potential, they simulated the non-equilibrium evolution of the coronal field. They found that the flux transport effects acting alone on potential fields create approximately equal numbers of dextral and sinistral channels in each hemisphere, in contradiction with observations. Following this, Mackay and van Ballegooijen (2005) re-considered the origin of the hemispheric pattern through combined flux transport and magneto-frictional relaxation simulations (Section 3.2.3), where the coronal field responds to surface motions by relaxing to a nonlinear force-free equilibrium. In the simulations the authors considered an idealised setup of initially isolated bipoles. Therefore, in contrast to the study of van Ballegooijen et al. (1998), they did not use initial potential fields. The authors demonstrate that the hemispheric pattern of filaments may be explained through the observational properties of newly-emerging bipoles such as (i) their dominant tilt angles $(-10^{\circ}:30^{\circ}, \text{Wang and Sheeley Jr}, 1989)$, and (ii) the dominant helicity with which they emerge in each hemisphere (Pevtsov et al., 1995). A key feature of these simulations was that the possible occurrence of exceptions to the hemispheric pattern was quantified for the first time, arising from large positive bipole tilt angles and minority helicity.

In a more conclusive study, the results of Mackay and van Ballegooijen (2005) have been tested through a direct comparison between theory and observations by Yeates et al. (2007, 2008b). First, they used H α observations from BBSO over a 6 month period to determine the location and chirality of 109 filaments (Yeates et al., 2007) relative to the underlying magnetic flux. In the second stage they used combined magnetic flux transport and magneto-frictional simulations (Section 3.2.3), based on actual photospheric magnetic distributions found on the Sun. Unlike previous studies, these were run for the whole six month period without ever resetting the surface field back to that found in observations or the coronal field to potential. To maintain accuracy over this time, 119 bipoles had to be emerged with properties determined from observations. Hence, the simulations were able to consider long term helicity transport across the solar surface from low to high latitudes. Yeates et al. (2008b) carried out a direct one-to-one comparison of the chirality produced by the model with the observed chirality of the filaments. An example of this can be seen in Figure 17, where Figure 17a shows the global field distribution after 108 days of evolution. The enlargement in Figure 17b shows a simulated flux rope structure with an axial field of dextral chirality. The real H α filament that formed at this location can be seen in Figure 17c. Through studying the barbs and applying a statistical technique, the filament was determined to be of dextral chirality so the chirality formed in the simulation matches that of the filament.

Through varying the sign and amount of helicity emerging within the bipoles, Yeates *et al.* (2008b) (see their Figure 5b) show that by emerging dominantly negative helicity in the northern hemisphere and positive in the southern, a 96% agreement can be found between the observations and simulations. An important feature is that the agreement is equally good for minority chi-

rality filaments as well as for dominant chirality filaments. Therefore, the global coronal model applied was equally good in producing positive and negative helicity regions at the correct times and spatial locations to represent solar filaments. Another key feature of the simulations is that a better agreement between the observations and simulations is found the longer the simulations are run. This indicates that the Sun has a long term memory of the transport of helicity from low to high latitudes. The reason for this high agreement is described in the paper of Yeates and Mackay (2009b) where seven different mechanisms are involved in producing the observed chiralities. The results demonstrate that the combined effects of differential rotation, meridional flow, supergranular diffusion, and emerging twisted active regions are sufficient to produce the observed hemispheric pattern of filaments. While the model of Yeates et al. (2008b) obtained an excellent agreement with the observed chirality of filaments, the 6 month simulation was unable to reproduce dextral/sinistral chirality along the polar crown PILs in the northern/southern hemispheres. The cause was that the simulation was not run for long enough to allow meridional flow, which acts on a time scale of 2 vr (see Section 2.2.1), to transport the helicity produced at low latitudes up into the polar regions. A later simulation running for a full 11-year solar cycle (see Figure 4a of Yeates and Mackay, 2012) was able to obtain the correct dextral/sinistral chirality along the polar crown PILs in each hemisphere, once the duration of the simulation exceeded the meridional flow timescale. This shows that, at least in the context of solar filaments, the flux transport and magneto-frictional model adequately describes the build-up and transport of helicity from low to high latitudes on the Sun. The model has subsequently been applied to the formation of magnetic flux ropes and their subsequent loss of equilibrium (Yeates and Mackay, 2009a; Yeates et al., 2010a), a possible mechanism for the initiation of coronal mass ejections.



Figure 17: Example of the comparison of theory and observations performed by Yeates *et al.* (2008b). (a) Magnetic field distribution in the global simulation after 108 days of evolution, showing highly twisted flux ropes, weakly sheared arcades, and near potential open fields. On the central image white/black represents positive/negative flux. (b) Close up view of a dextral flux rope lying above a PIL within the simulation. (c) BBSO H α image of the dextral filament observed at this location.



Figure 18: Comparison of observations and simulated emissions from a global steady-state MHD model. The observations are shown in the first column, while the emissions due to different coronal heating profiles are shown in the other columns. Image reproduced by permission from Figure 8 of Lionello *et al.* (2009), copyright by AAS.

4.4 Plasma emission

Although simple models of the coronal plasma emission may be derived by populating PFSS magnetic field lines with hydrostatic atmospheres (Jardine *et al.*, 2002b), self-consistent models of plasma density and temperature require full-MHD models (Section 3.4). Indeed, a key emphasis of global MHD models has been direct comparison of the steady state solutions with either white-light (Rušin *et al.*, 2010) or multi-spectral EUV and X-Ray observations (Lionello *et al.*, 2009; Downs *et al.*, 2010). Early global MHD models using a simplified polytropic energy equation were able to produce a good representation of the Suns large-scale magnetic field (Mikić *et al.*, 1999), however they were unable to reproduce realistic emission profiles in EUV and X-rays. This was attributed to the fact that they did not produce a sufficiently high density and temperature contrast between open and closed field regions. To improve the models, a more realistic energy equation has been incorporated, including the effects of thermal conduction, radiative losses, and coronal heating, along with modeling the upper chromosphere and transition region (Lionello *et al.*, 2001, 2009; Downs *et al.*, 2010).

Figure 18 shows a comparison of the global MHD model of Lionello et al. (2009) with observations for CR 1913 (August-September 1996). The left hand column shows three EUV pass bands (171, 195, 284 Å) along with a Yohkoh/SXT X-ray image. The other three columns show synthetic emission profiles constructed from density and temperature distributions in the global MHD simulation. Each column uses exactly the same MHD model: the only difference is the form of coronal heating applied $(H_{\rm ch}$ in Equation (47)). While each solution produces roughly the same magnetic structure, the most important factor in reproducing the emissions is the coronal heating. The second column, which uses an exponential form falling off with height, gives the worst comparison. When spatially varying heating is applied (either from Schrijver et al., 2004 or the composite form of Lionello et al., 2009), the simulation captures many of the features of the observed emission. Similar results were also found in the paper of Downs et al. (2010). In an alternative comparison, Rušin et al. (2010) compared the output from the global MHD model shown in Figure 18 with white light eclipse observations from 1 August 2008. To compare the model and observations, the authors simulated the white light emission of the corona by integrating the electron density along the line-of-sight. The results of the comparison can be seen in Figure 5 of Rušin et al. (2010) where the model successfully reproduced the overall shape of the corona along with the shape and location of three helmet streamers.

5 Conclusions

In this review, our present day understanding of global magnetic fields on the Sun and other stars has been discussed from both observational and theoretical viewpoints. For the Sun, we now have long-running data sets of global magnetic activity. For other stars, we are just beginning to learn of the wide variety of magnetic morphologies that exist. In terms of theoretical models, recent years have seen a significant advance in global modeling techniques. Global magnetic fields may be modeled under the nonlinear force-free approximation for long periods of time, or for short periods of time using highly detailed MHD models. A key feature of these models is that they have been validated through various comparisons with observations. While our understanding has significantly increased over the last decade, there are several immediate outstanding issues. Five of these are discussed below, where the list is not exhaustive and the order in no way reflects their importance.

- 1. While we have a detailed understanding of the normal magnetic field component on the solar photosphere, the same is not true for the vector field. Between SDO and SOLIS we now have daily full disk vector magnetograms. Analysis of these will gain us an understanding of the emergence and transport of vector fields across the Sun, as well as the origin and evolution of magnetic helicity, a key component in eruptive phenomena. Additionally, vector magnetic field measurements are need not just in strong field regions, but also in weak field regions.
- 2. For theoretical models, regular observations of the vector fields mean that more constraints can be applied to input data of bipole emergences that are used to drive these models. New techniques must be developed for the incorporation of vector data into simulations. Only through this can theory and observations be truly unified.
- 3. A number of inconsistencies with the application of surface flux transport models need to be resolved. These relate to the use of additional decay terms, variations in the rate or profile of meridional flow, and the exact tilt angle applied for new emerging bipoles. Currently various combinations of all of these have been shown (when coupled with different coronal models) to give similar results. It would be useful for the various authors to resolve these issues through comparing results from their codes, driven by the variety of input data sets available. In addition, more constraints on the input data are required from observations.
- 4. While our understanding of stellar magnetic fields has greatly increased, observations are still sporadic. Long term data sets of individual stars across different spectral types are required. From this we may deduce different magnetic flux emergence and transport parameters which are critical for the next generation of dynamo models.
- 5. Global time-dependent MHD models with evolving lower boundary conditions must be developed, to provide a self-consistent model for the evolution and interaction of magnetic fields with plasma.

These issues may be addressed with the current suite of ground and space-based observatories along with developing new theoretical techniques. A key element in achieving this goal is the increasing computing power available both for real-time data reduction and for theoretical modeling. Future revisions of the article will hopefully describe answers to some of these questions. Along with answering these questions, the scope of the review in future revisions will also be increased to include additional topics such as: the connection between the Sun and Heliosphere, observations of coronal and solar prominence magnetic fields, global eruptive models and a fuller discussion of the consequences of observational limitations on the models which directly employ observations.

6 Acknowledgments

DHM would like to thank STFC, the Leverhulme Trust and European Commission's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013) under the grant agreement SWIFF (project no. 263340, http://www.swiff.eu) for their financial support. ARY thanks STFC for financial support while at the University of Dundee. The authors would also like to thank the two anonymous referees for their positive comments on the manuscript, along with Vic Gaizauskas and Ineke De Moortel for providing comments on the first draft.

References

- Altschuler, M.D. and Newkirk Jr, G., 1969, "Magnetic Fields and the Structure of the Solar Corona. I: Methods of Calculating Coronal Fields", Solar Phys., 9, 131–149. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 21 and 22.)
- Aly, J.J. and Seehafer, N., 1993, "Coronal force-free magnetic field: Source-surface model", Solar Phys., 144, 243–254. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 25.)
- Antiochos, S.K., DeVore, C.R., Karpen, J.T. and Mikić, Z., 2007, "Structure and Dynamics of the Sun's Open Magnetic Field", Astrophys. J., 671, 936–946. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0705.4430] (Cited on pages 40 and 43.)
- Antiochos, S.K., Linker, J.A., Lionello, R., Mikić, Z., Titov, V. and Zurbuchen, T.H., 2012, "The Structure and Dynamics of the Corona–Heliosphere Connection", *Space Sci. Rev.*, **172**, 169–185. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page **43**.)
- Arge, C.N. and Pizzo, V.J., 2000, "Improvement in the prediction of solar wind conditions using near-real time solar magnetic field updates", J. Geophys. Res., 105, 10,465–10,480. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 24.)
- Arge, C.N., Henney, C.J., Koller, J., Compeau, C.R., Young, S., MacKenzie, D., Fay, A. and Harvey, J.W., 2010, "Air Force Data Assimilative Photospheric Flux Transport (ADAPT) Model", in *Twelfth International Solar Wind Conference*, Saint-Malo, France, 21–26 June 2009, (Eds.) Maksimovic, M., Issautier, K., Meyer-Vernet, N., Moncuquet, M., Pantelli, F., vol. 1216 of AIP Conference Proceedings, pp. 343–346, American Institute of Physics, Melville, NY. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 13.)
- Aulanier, G. and Démoulin, P., 1998, "3-D magnetic configurations supporting prominences. I. The natural presence of lateral feet", Astron. Astrophys., 329, 1125–1137. [ADS] (Cited on page 43.)
- Babcock, H.D., 1959, "The Sun's Polar Magnetic Field", Astrophys. J., 130, 364–365. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Babcock, H.D. and Livingston, W.C., 1958, "Changes in the Sun's Polar Magnetic Field", Science, 127, 1058. [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Babcock, H.W. and Babcock, H.D., 1952, "Mapping the Magnetic Fields of the Sun", Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac., 64, 282. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Baliunas, S.L., Donahue, R.A., Soon, W.H., Horne, J.H., Frazer, J., Woodard-Eklund, L., Bradford, M., Rao, L.M., Wilson, O.C., Zhang, Q., Bennett, W., Briggs, J., Carroll, S.M., Duncan, D.K., Figueroa, D., Lanning, H.H., Misch, T., Mueller, J., Noyes, R.W., Poppe, D., Porter, A.C., Robinson, C.R., Russell, J., Shelton, J.C., Soyumer, T., Vaughan, A.H. and Whitney, J.H., 1995, "Chromospheric variations in main-sequence stars. II.", Astrophys. J., 438, 269–287. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 9.)
- Balogh, A., Smith, E.J., Tsurutani, B.T., Southwood, D.J., Forsyth, R.J. and Horbury, T.S., 1995, "The Heliospheric Magnetic Field Over the South Polar Region of the Sun", *Science*, 268, 1007–1010. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 5 and 36.)
- Baumann, I., Schmitt, D., Schüssler, M. and Solanki, S.K., 2004, "Evolution of the large-scale magnetic field on the solar surface: A parameter study", Astron. Astrophys., 426, 1075–1091. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 10.)
- Baumann, I., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2006, "A necessary extension of the surface flux transport model", Astron. Astrophys., 446, 307–314. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 12, 14, and 17.)
- Beer, J., Blinov, A., Bonani, G., Finkel, R.C., Hofmann, H.J., Lehmann, B., Oeschger, H., Sigg, A., Schwander, J., Staffelbach, T., Stauffer, B., Suter, M. and Wötfli, W., 1990, "Use of ¹⁰Be in polar ice to trace the 11-year cycle of solar activity", *Nature*, **347**, 164–166. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 8 and 36.)

Benz, A.O., 2008, "Flare Observations", *Living Rev. Solar Phys.*, **5**, lrsp-2008-1. [ADS]. URL (accessed 5 October 2012):

http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2008-1 (Cited on page 5.)

- Bogdan, T.J. and Low, B.C., 1986, "The three-dimensional structure of magnetostatic atmospheres. II. Modeling the large-scale corona", Astrophys. J., 306, 271–283. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 30, 31, and 32.)
- Braun, D.C. and Lindsey, C., 2001, "Seismic Imaging of the Far Hemisphere of the Sun", Astrophys. J. Lett., 560, L189–L192. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 13.)
- Cameron, R.H. and Schüssler, M., 2007, "Solar Cycle Prediction Using Precursors and Flux Transport Models", Astrophys. J., 659, 801–811. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0612693] (Cited on page 14.)
- Cameron, R.H. and Schüssler, M., 2010, "Changes of the Solar Meridional Velocity Profile During Cycle 23 Explained by Flows Toward the Activity Belts", Astrophys. J., 720, 1030–1032. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1007.2548 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 19.)
- Cameron, R.H., Jiang, J., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2010, "Surface Flux Transport Modeling for Solar Cycles 15-21: Effects of Cycle-Dependent Tilt Angles of Sunspot Groups", Astrophys. J., 719, 264–270. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1006.3061 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 17 and 39.)
- Cameron, R.H., Schmitt, D., Jiang, J. and Işık, E., 2012, "Surface flux evolution constraints for flux transport dynamos", Astron. Astrophys., 542, A127. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1205.1136 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 15.)
- Cargill, P.J., 2009, "Coronal Magnetism: Difficulties and Prospects", Space Sci. Rev., 144, 413–421. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 21.)
- Chen, P.F., 2011, "Coronal Mass Ejections: Models and Their Observational Basis", *Living Rev. Solar Phys.*, **8**, http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2011-1 (Cited on pages 5 and 33.)
- Cohen, O., Sokolov, I.V., Roussev, I.I., Arge, C.N., Manchester IV, W.B., Gombosi, T.I., Frazin, R.A., Park, H., Butala, M.D., Kamalabadi, F. and Velli, M., 2007, "A Semiempirical Magnetohydrodynamical Model of the Solar Wind", Astrophys. J. Lett., 654, L163–L166. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 34 and 37.)
- Cohen, O., Drake, J.J., Kashyap, V.L., Hussain, G.A.J. and Gombosi, T.I., 2010, "The Coronal Structure of AB Doradus", Astrophys. J., 721, 80–89. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1007.4320 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 5 and 35.)
- Contopoulos, I., Kalapotharakos, C. and Georgoulis, M.K., 2011, "Nonlinear Force-Free Reconstruction of the Global Solar Magnetic Field: Methodology", Solar Phys., 269, 351–365. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1011.5356 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 26, 27, and 28.)
- Cook, G.R., Mackay, D.H. and Nandy, D., 2009, "Solar Cycle Variations of Coronal Null Points: Implications for the Magnetic Breakout Model of Coronal Mass Ejections", Astrophys. J., 704, 1021–1035. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 22.)
- Cranmer, S.R., 2009, "Coronal Holes", *Living Rev. Solar Phys.*, **6**, lrsp-2009-3. [ADS], [arXiv:0909.2847 [astro-ph.SR]]. URL (accessed 14 June 2012): http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2009-3 (Cited on pages 40 and 43.)
- Dasi-Espuig, M., Solanki, S.K., Krivova, N.A., Cameron, R.H. and Peñuela, T., 2010, "Sunspot group tilt angles and the strength of the solar cycle", Astron. Astrophys., 518, A7. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1005.1774 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 17.)

- DeRosa, M.L. and Schrijver, C.J., 2006, "Consequences of large-scale flows around active regions on the dispersal of magnetic field across the solar surface", in SOHO 18/Gong 2006/HELAS I: Beyond the Spherical Sun, Proceedings of SOHO 18/GONG 2006/HELAS I, 7–11 August 2006, Sheffield, UK, (Ed.) Thompson, M., vol. SP-624 of ESA Special Publication, ESA, Noordwijk. [ADS] (Cited on page 18.)
- DeRosa, M.L., Schrijver, C.J., Barnes, G., Leka, K.D., Lites, B.W., Aschwanden, M.J., Amari, T., Canou, A., McTiernan, J.M., Régnier, S.and Thalmann, J.K., Valori, G., Wheatland, M.S., Wiegelmann, T., Cheung, M.C.M., Conlon, P.A., Fuhrmann, M., Inhester, B. and Tadesse, T., 2009, "A Critical Assessment of Nonlinear Force-Free Field Modeling of the Solar Corona for Active Region 10953", Astrophys. J., 696, 1780–1791. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0902.1007 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 25.)
- DeVore, C.R., 1987, "The decay of the large-scale solar magnetic field", *Solar Phys.*, **112**, 17–35. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages **11** and **15**.)
- DeVore, C.R. and Antiochos, S.K., 2008, "Homologous Confined Filament Eruptions via Magnetic Breakout", Astrophys. J., 680, 740–756. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 33 and 34.)
- DeVore, C.R. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1987, "Simulations of the Sun's polar magnetic fields during sunspot cycle 21", *Solar Phys.*, **108**, 47–59. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page **15**.)
- DeVore, C.R., Sheeley Jr, N.R. and Boris, J.P., 1984, "The concentration of the large-scale solar magnetic field by a meridional surface flow", *Solar Phys.*, **92**, 1–14. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 9 and 12.)
- DeVore, C.R., Boris, J.P., Young Jr, T.R., Sheeley Jr, N.R. and Harvey, K.L., 1985a, "Numerical simulations of large-scale solar magnetic fields", Aust. J. Phys., 38, 999–1007. [ADS] (Cited on page 10.)
- DeVore, C.R., Sheeley Jr, N.R., Boris, J.P., Young Jr, T.R. and Harvey, K.L., 1985b, "Simulations of magnetic-flux transport in solar active regions", *Solar Phys.*, **102**, 41–49. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 10, 11, and 13.)
- Dikpati, M. and Gilman, P.A., 2006, "Simulating and Predicting Solar Cycles Using a Flux-Transport Dynamo", Astrophys. J., 649, 498–514. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 14.)
- Dikpati, M., de Toma, G. and Gilman, P.A., 2006, "Predicting the strength of solar cycle 24 using a flux-transport dynamo-based tool", *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, **33**, 5102, L05102. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 14.)
- Donati, J.-F., Collier Cameron, A., Semel, M., Hussain, G.A.J., Petit, P., Carter, B.D., Marsden, S.C., Mengel, M., López Ariste, A., Jeffers, S.V. and Rees, D.E., 2003, "Dynamo processes and activity cycles of the active stars AB Doradus, LQ Hydrae and HR 1099", Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 345, 1145–1186. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 8.)
- Donati, J.-F., Morin, J., Delfosse, X., Forveille, T., Farès, R., Moutou, C. and Jardine, M.M., 2009, "Large-scale magnetic topologies of cool stars", in *Cool Stars, Stellar Systems and the Sun*, Proceedings of the 15th Cambridge Workshop, St. Andrews (Scotland), 21–25 July 2008, (Ed.) Stempels, E., vol. 1094 of AIP Conference Proceedings, pp. 130–139, American Institute of Physics, Melville, NY. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 5 and 9.)
- Downs, C., Roussev, I.I., van der Holst, B., Lugaz, N., Sokolov, I.V. and Gombosi, T.I., 2010, "Toward a Realistic Thermodynamic Magnetohydrodynamic Model of the Global Solar Corona", Astrophys. J., 712, 1219–1231. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0912.2647 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 33, 34, 46, and 47.)
- Durrant, C.J., 1989, "Linear force-free magnetic fields and coronal models", Aust. J. Phys., 42, 317–329. [ADS] (Cited on page 25.)
- Durrant, C.J., 2002, "Polar magnetic fields Filaments and the zero-flux contour", *Solar Phys.*, **211**, 83–102. [ADS] (Cited on page **16**.)

- Durrant, C.J. and Wilson, P.R., 2003, "Observations and Simulations of the Polar Field Reversals in Cycle 23", Solar Phys., 214, 23–39. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 15 and 16.)
- Durrant, C.J., Kress, J.M. and Wilson, P.R., 2001, "The Evolution of Trailing Plumes from Active Regions", Solar Phys., 201, 57–69. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 16.)
- Durrant, C.J., Turner, J. and Wilson, P.R., 2002, "Bipolar Magnetic Fields Emerging at High Latitudes", Solar Phys., 211, 103–124. [ADS] (Cited on page 16.)
- Durrant, C.J., Turner, J.P.R. and Wilson, P.R., 2004, "The Mechanism involved in the Reversals of the Sun's Polar Magnetic Fields", Solar Phys., 222, 345–362. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 13.)
- Duvall Jr, T.L., 1979, "Large-scale solar velocity fields", *Solar Phys.*, **63**, 3–15. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 7 and 9.)
- Eddy, J.A., 1976, "The Maunder Minimum", Science, 192, 1189–1202. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 8.)
- Edmondson, J.K., Lynch, B.J., Antiochos, S.K., De Vore, C.R. and Zurbuchen, T.H., 2009, "Reconnection-Driven Dynamics of Coronal-Hole Boundaries", Astrophys. J., 707, 1427–1437. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 43.)
- Edmondson, J.K., Antiochos, S.K., DeVore, C.R., Lynch, B.J. and Zurbuchen, T.H., 2010, "Interchange Reconnection and Coronal Hole Dynamics", *Astrophys. J.*, **714**, 517–531. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages **34** and **43**.)
- Fares, R., Donati, J.-F., Moutou, C., Bohlender, D., Catala, C., Deleuil, M., Shkolnik, E., Collier Cameron, A., Jardine, M.M. and Walker, G.A.H., 2009, "Magnetic cycles of the planet-hosting star τ Bootis II. A second magnetic polarity reversal", Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 398, 1383–1391. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0906.4515 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 9.)
- Feng, X., Yang, L., Xiang, C., Jiang, C., Ma, X., Wu, S.T., Zhong, D. and Zhou, Y., 2012, "Validation of the 3D AMR SIP-CESE Solar Wind Model for Four Carrington Rotations", *Solar Phys.*, 279, 69. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 33, 34, and 39.)
- Fisk, L.A., 1996, "Motion of the footpoints of heliospheric magnetic field lines at the Sun: Implications for recurrent energetic particle events at high heliographic latitudes", J. Geophys. Res., 1011, 15,547– 15,554. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 42.)
- Fisk, L.A. and Schwadron, N.A., 2001, "The Behavior of the Open Magnetic Field of the Sun", Astrophys. J., 560, 425–438. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 40 and 43.)
- Fisk, L.A. and Zurbuchen, T.H., 2006, "Distribution and properties of open magnetic flux outside of coronal holes", J. Geophys. Res., 111, A09115. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 39 and 43.)
- Forbes, T.G., Linker, J.A., Chen, J., Cid, C., Kóta, J., Lee, M.A., Mann, G., Mikić, Z., Potgieter, M.S., Schmidt, J.M., Siscoe, G.L., Vainio, R., Antiochos, S.K. and Riley, P., 2006, "CME Theory and Models", *Space Sci. Rev.*, **123**, 251–302. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 5 and 33.)
- Fröhlich, C. and Lean, J., 1998, "The Sun's total irradiance: Cycles, trends and related climate change uncertainties since 1976", *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 25, 4377–4380. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Gaizauskas, V., 1998, "Filament Channels: Essential Ingredients for Filament Formation", in New Perspectives on Solar Prominences, IAU Colloq. 167, Aussois, France, April 28 May 4, 1997, (Eds.) Webb, D.F., Schmieder, B., Rust, D.M., vol. 150 of ASP Conference Series, pp. 257–264, Astronomical Society of the Pacific, San Francisco. [ADS] (Cited on page 43.)
- Gaizauskas, V., 2008, "Development of Flux Imbalances in Solar Activity Nests and the Evolution of Filament Channels", Astrophys. J., 686, 1432–1446. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 7.)

- Gaizauskas, V., Harvey, K.L., Harvey, J.W. and Zwaan, C., 1983, "Large-scale patterns formed by solar active regions during the ascending phase of cycle 21", Astrophys. J., 265, 1056–1065. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 7 and 16.)
- Gibson, S.E. and Bagenal, F., 1995, "Large-scale magnetic field and density distribution in the solar minimum corona", J. Geophys. Res., 100, 19,865–19,880. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 31.)
- Gizon, L. and Rempel, M., 2008, "Observation and Modeling of the Solar-Cycle Variation of the Meridional Flow", *Solar Phys.*, **251**, 241–250. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0803.0950] (Cited on page **18**.)
- González Hernández, I., Komm, R., Hill, F., Howe, R., Corbard, T. and Haber, D.A., 2006, "Meridional Circulation Variability from Large-Aperture Ring-Diagram Analysis of Global Oscillation Network Group and Michelson Doppler Imager Data", Astrophys. J., 638, 576–583. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 18.)
- González Hernández, I., Kholikov, S., Hill, F., Howe, R. and Komm, R., 2008, "Subsurface Meridional Circulation in the Active Belts", *Solar Phys.*, 252, 235–245. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0808.3606] (Cited on page 18.)
- Haber, D.A., Hindman, B.W., Toomre, J., Bogart, R.S., Larsen, R.M. and Hill, F., 2002, "Evolving Submerged Meridional Circulation Cells within the Upper Convection Zone Revealed by Ring-Diagram Analysis", Astrophys. J., 570, 855–864. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 18.)
- Hale, G.E., 1908, "On the Probable Existence of a Magnetic Field in Sun-Spots", Astrophys. J., 28, 315–343. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Hale, G.E. and Nicholson, S.B., 1925, "The Law of Sun-Spot Polarity", Astrophys. J., 62, 270–300. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 7.)
- Hale, G.E., Ellerman, F., Nicholson, S.B. and Joy, A.H., 1919, "The Magnetic Polarity of Sun-Spots", Astrophys. J., 49, 153–178. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 7.)
- Harvey, K.L. and Zwaan, C., 1993, "Properties and emergence of bipolar active regions", Solar Phys., 148, 85–118. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 7 and 12.)
- Hathaway, D.H., 2010, "The Solar Cycle", *Living Rev. Solar Phys.*, **7**, hsp-2010-1. [ADS]. URL (accessed 5 October 2012): http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2010-1 (Cited on pages 7 and 8.)
- Hathaway, D.H. and Rightmire, L., 2010, "Variations in the Sun's Meridional Flow over a Solar Cycle", Science, 327, 1350. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 7, 9, and 19.)
- Hayashi, K., 2005, "Magnetohydrodynamic Simulations of the Solar Corona and Solar Wind Using a Boundary Treatment to Limit Solar Wind Mass Flux", Astrophys. J. Suppl. Ser., 161, 480–494. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 34.)
- Henney, C.J., Toussaint, W.A., White, S.M. and Arge, C.N., 2012, "Forecasting F_{10.7} with solar magnetic flux transport modeling", *Space Weather*, **10**, 2011, S02011. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages **13** and **16**.)
- Hindman, B.W., Gizon, L., Duvall Jr, T.L., Haber, D.A. and Toomre, J., 2004, "Comparison of Solar Subsurface Flows Assessed by Ring and Time-Distance Analyses", Astrophys. J., 613, 1253–1262. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 18.)
- Hoeksema, J.T., Wilcox, J.M. and Scherrer, P.H., 1983, "The structure of the heliospheric current sheet: 1978–1982", J. Geophys. Res., 88(A12), 9910–9918. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 23.)
- Hollweg, J.V., 2008, "The solar wind: Our current understanding and how we got here", J. Astrophys. Astron., 29, 217–237. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)

- Holzwarth, V. and Jardine, M.M., 2007, "Theoretical mass loss rates of cool main-sequence stars", Astron. Astrophys., 463, 11–21. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0611430] (Cited on page 37.)
- Holzwarth, V., Mackay, D.H. and Jardine, M.M., 2006, "The impact of meridional circulation on stellar butterfly diagrams and polar caps", Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 369, 1703–1718. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0604102] (Cited on page 20.)
- Howard, R.F., 1991, "Axial tilt angles of sunspot groups", *Solar Phys.*, **136**, 251–262. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 7.)
- Hoyt, D.V. and Schatten, K.H., 1998, "Group Sunspot Numbers: A New Solar Activity Reconstruction", Solar Phys., 181, 491–512. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 7 and 12.)
- Işık, E., Schüssler, M. and Solanki, S.K., 2007, "Magnetic flux transport on active cool stars and starspot lifetimes", Astron. Astrophys., 464, 1049–1057. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0612399] (Cited on page 20.)
- Işık, E., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2011, "Magnetic flux generation and transport in cool stars", Astron. Astrophys., 528, A135. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1102.0569 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 20.)
- Jackson, J.D., 1962, Classical Electrodynamics, John Wiley & Sons, New York. [ADS] (Cited on page 22.)
- Jardine, M.M., Collier Cameron, A. and Donati, J.-F., 2002a, "The global magnetic topology of AB Doradus", Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 333, 339–346. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0205132] (Cited on page 22.)
- Jardine, M.M., Wood, K., Collier Cameron, A., Donati, J.-F. and Mackay, D.H., 2002b, "Inferring X-ray coronal structures from Zeeman-Doppler images", Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 336, 1364–1370. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0207522] (Cited on page 46.)
- Jardine, M.M., Donati, J.-F., Arzoumanian, D. and de Vidotto, A., 2011, "Modelling stellar coronal magnetic fields", in *Physics of Sun and Star Spots*, IAU Symposium 273, Ventura, California, USA, August 22–26, 2010, (Eds.) Choudhary, D.B., Strassmeier, K.G., vol. 273 of IAU Symposium, pp. 242– 248, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; New York. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1008.4885 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 5.)
- Jiang, J., Cameron, R.H., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2009, "Countercell Meridional Flow and Latitudinal Distribution of the Solar Polar Magnetic Field", Astrophys. J. Lett., 693, L96–L99. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 18.)
- Jiang, J., Cameron, R.H., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2010a, "Modeling the Sun's Open Magnetic Flux and the Heliospheric Current Sheet", Astrophys. J., 709, 301–307. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0912.0108] (Cited on page 12.)
- Jiang, J., Işık, E., Cameron, R.H., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2010b, "The Effect of Activity-related Meridional Flow Modulation on the Strength of the Solar Polar Magnetic Field", Astrophys. J., 717, 597–602. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1005.5317] (Cited on page 19.)
- Jiang, J., Cameron, R.H., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2011a, "The solar magnetic field since 1700.
 I. Characteristics of sunspot group emergence and reconstruction of the butterfly diagram", Astron. Astrophys., 528, A82. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1102.1266 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 12 and 17.)
- Jiang, J., Cameron, R.H., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2011b, "The solar magnetic field since 1700. II. Physical reconstruction of total, polar and open flux", Astron. Astrophys., 528, A83. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1102.1270 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 17.)
- Jiang, J., Cameron, R.H., Schmitt, D. and Schüssler, M., 2011c, "Can Surface Flux Transport Account for the Weak Polar Field in Cycle 23?", *Space Sci. Rev.*, in press, 136. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1104.4183 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 17.)

- Keller, C.U., Harvey, J.W. and Giampapa, M.S., 2003, "SOLIS: an innovative suite of synoptic instruments", in *Innovative Telescopes and Instrumentation for Solar Astrophysics*, Waikoloa, HI, 22–28 August 2002, (Eds.) Keil, S.L., Avakyan, S.V., vol. 4853 of Proc. SPIE, pp. 194–204, SPIE, Bellingham, WA. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Keppler, E., Franz, M., Korth, A., Reuss, M.K., Blake, J.B., Seidel, R., Quenby, J.J. and Witte, M., 1995, "Observations of Energetic Particles with EPAC on Ulysses in Polar Latitudes of the Heliosphere", *Science*, 268, 1013–1016. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 42.)
- Kosugi, T., Matsuzaki, K., Sakao, T., Shimizu, T., Sone, Y., Tachikawa, S., Hashimoto, T., Minesugi, K., Ohnishi, A., Yamada, T., Tsuneta, S., Hara, H., Ichimoto, K., Suematsu, Y., Shimojo, M., Watanabe, T., Shimada, S., Davis, J.M., Hill, L.D., Owens, J.K., Title, A.M., Culhane, J.L., Harra, L.K., Doschek, G.A. and Golub, L., 2007, "The Hinode (Solar-B) Mission: An Overview", *Solar Phys.*, 243, 3–17. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Labrosse, N., Heinzel, P., Vial, J.-C., Kucera, T., Parenti, S., Gunár, S., Schmieder, B. and Kilper, G., 2010, "Physics of Solar Prominences: I – Spectral Diagnostics and Non-LTE Modelling", Space Sci. Rev., 151, 243–332. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1001.1620 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 5 and 43.)
- Lee, C.O., Luhmann, J.G., Hoeksema, J.T., Sun, X., Arge, C.N. and de Pater, I., 2011, "Coronal Field Opens at Lower Height During the Solar Cycles 22 and 23 Minimum Periods: IMF Comparison Suggests the Source Surface Should Be Lowered", *Solar Phys.*, 269, 367–388. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 23.)
- Leighton, R.B., 1964, "Transport of Magnetic Fields on the Sun", Astrophys. J., 140, 1547–1562. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 9, 11, and 14.)
- Levine, R.H., 1982, "Open magnetic fields and the solar cycle. I: Photospheric sources of open magnetic flux", *Solar Phys.*, **79**, 203–230. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 40.)
- Levine, R.H. and Altschuler, M.D., 1974, "Representations of coronal magnetic fields including currents", Solar Phys., 36, 345–350. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 25.)
- Levine, R.H., Altschuler, M.D., Harvey, J.W. and Jackson, B.V., 1977, "Open magnetic structures on the Sun", Astrophys. J., 215, 636–651. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 23.)
- Lindsey, C. and Braun, D.C., 2000, "Basic Principles of Solar Acoustic Holography", Solar Phys., 192, 261–284. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 13.)
- Linker, J.A., Lionello, R., Mikić, Z., Titov, V.S. and Antiochos, S.K., 2011, "The Evolution of Open Magnetic Flux Driven by Photospheric Dynamics", Astrophys. J., 731, 110. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 34, 42, and 43.)
- Lionello, R., Linker, J.A. and Mikić, Z., 2001, "Including the Transition Region in Models of the Large-Scale Solar Corona", Astrophys. J., 546, 542–551. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 46.)
- Lionello, R., Riley, P., Linker, J.A. and Mikić, Z., 2005, "The Effects of Differential Rotation on the Magnetic Structure of the Solar Corona: Magnetohydrodynamic Simulations", Astrophys. J., 625, 463– 473. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 34 and 41.)
- Lionello, R., Linker, J.A., Mikić, Z. and Riley, P., 2006, "The Latitudinal Excursion of Coronal Magnetic Field Lines in Response to Differential Rotation: MHD Simulations", Astrophys. J. Lett., 642, L69–L72. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 42.)
- Lionello, R., Linker, J.A. and Mikić, Z., 2009, "Multispectral Emission of the Sun During the First Whole Sun Month: Magnetohydrodynamic Simulations", Astrophys. J., 690, 902–912. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 33, 34, 46, and 47.)
- Lites, B.W., Martínez Pillet, V. and Skumanich, A., 1994, "A quantitative comparison of vector magnetic field measurement and analysis techniques", *Solar Phys.*, **155**, 1–27. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 8.)

- Lockwood, M., 2002, "An evaluation of the correlation between open solar flux and total solar irradiance", Astron. Astrophys., 382, 678–687. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 36.)
- Lockwood, M., Stamper, R. and Wild, M.N., 1999, "A doubling of the Sun's coronal magnetic field during the past 100 years", *Nature*, **399**, 437–439. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page **37**.)
- Lockwood, M., Forsyth, R., Balogh, A. and McComas, D., 2004, "Open solar flux estimates from near-Earth measurements of the interplanetary magnetic field: comparison of the first two perihelion passes of the Ulysses spacecraft", Ann. Geophys., 22, 1395–1405. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 37.)
- Lockwood, M., Rouillard, A.P. and Finch, I.D., 2009, "The Rise and Fall of Open Solar Flux During the Current Grand Solar Maximum", Astrophys. J., 700, 937–944. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 37 and 39.)
- Low, B.C. and Lou, Y.Q., 1990, "Modeling solar force-free magnetic fields", Astrophys. J., **352**, 343–352. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 27.)
- Luhmann, J.G., Li, Y., Arge, C.N., Gazis, P.R. and Ulrich, R., 2002, "Solar cycle changes in coronal holes and space weather cycles", J. Geophys. Res., 107, 1154. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 21 and 40.)
- Mackay, D.H. and van Ballegooijen, A.A., 2005, "New Results in Modeling the Hemispheric Pattern of Solar Filaments", Astrophys. J. Lett., 621, L77–L80. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 43 and 44.)
- Mackay, D.H. and van Ballegooijen, A.A., 2006, "Models of the Large-Scale Corona. I. Formation, Evolution, and Liftoff of Magnetic Flux Ropes", Astrophys. J., 641, 577–589. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 14, 28, 29, and 30.)
- Mackay, D.H., Longbottom, A.W. and Priest, E.R., 1999, "Dipped Magnetic Field Configurations Associated with Filaments and Barbs", *Solar Phys.*, **185**, 87–112. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 43.)
- Mackay, D.H., Priest, E.R. and Lockwood, M., 2002a, "The Evolution of the Sun's Open Magnetic Flux: I. A Single Bipole", *Solar Phys.*, 207, 291–308. [ADS] (Cited on page 38.)
- Mackay, D.H., Priest, E.R. and Lockwood, M., 2002b, "The Evolution of the Sun's Open Magnetic Flux: II. Full Solar Cycle Simulations", *Solar Phys.*, **209**, 287–309. [ADS] (Cited on page **38**.)
- Mackay, D.H., Jardine, M.M., Collier Cameron, A., Donati, J.-F. and Hussain, G.A.J., 2004, "Polar caps on active stars: magnetic flux emergence and transport", *Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.*, 354, 737–752. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 8, 19, and 20.)
- Mackay, D.H., Karpen, J.T., Ballester, J.L., Schmieder, B. and Aulanier, G., 2010, "Physics of Solar Prominences: II – Magnetic Structure and Dynamics", *Space Sci. Rev.*, **151**, 333–399. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1001.1635 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 5 and 43.)
- Maclennan, C.G., Lanzerotti, L.J., Simnett, G.M. and Sayle, K.A., 1995, "Heliolatitude dependence of interplanetary heavy ions", *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 22, 3361–3364. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 42.)
- Martin, S.F., Bilimoria, R. and Tracadas, P.W., 1994, "Magnetic field configurations basic to filament channels and filaments", in *Solar Surface Magnetism*, Proceedings of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop, Soesterberg, The Netherlands, November 1–5, 1993, (Eds.) Rutten, R.J., Schrijver, C.J., vol. 433 of NATO ASI Series C, pp. 303–338, Kluwer, Dordrecht; Boston. [ADS] (Cited on pages 43 and 44.)
- Maunder, E.W., 1913, "Distribution of Sunspots in Heliographic Latitude, 1874–1913", Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 74, 112. [ADS] (Cited on page 7.)
- McCloughan, J. and Durrant, C.J., 2002, "A method of evolving synoptic maps of the solar magnetic field", Solar Phys., 211, 53–76. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 9, 11, and 14.)

- McDonald, F.B., Teegarden, B.J., Trainor, J.H., von Rosenvinge, T.T. and Webber, W.R., 1976, "The interplanetary acceleration of energetic nucleons", Astrophys. J. Lett., 203, L149–L154. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 42.)
- McIvor, T., Jardine, M.M., Mackay, D. and Holzwarth, V., 2006, "Simulated X-ray cycles in rapidly rotating solar-like stars", *Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.*, **367**, 592–598. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page **37**.)
- Mikić, Z., Linker, J.A., Schnack, D.D., Lionello, R. and Tarditi, A., 1999, "Magnetohydrodynamic modeling of the global solar corona", *Phys. Plasmas*, 6, 2217–2224. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 46.)
- Moreno-Insertis, F., 1986, "Nonlinear time-evolution of kink-unstable magnetic flux tubes in the convective zone of the sun", *Astron. Astrophys.*, **166**, 291–305. [ADS] (Cited on page 20.)
- Nakagawa, Y., 1973, "A Practical Representation of the Solar Magnetic Field", Astron. Astrophys., 27, 95. [ADS] (Cited on page 25.)
- Nash, A.G., Sheeley Jr, N.R. and Wang, Y.-M., 1988, "Mechanisms for the rigid rotation of coronal holes", Solar Phys., 117, 359–389. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 41.)
- Neugebauer, M., Forsyth, R.J., Galvin, A.B., Harvey, K.L., Hoeksema, J.T., Lazarus, A.J., Lepping, R.P., Linker, J.A., Mikic, Z., Steinberg, J.T., von Steiger, R., Wang, Y.-M. and Wimmer-Schweingruber, R.F., 1998, "Spatial structure of the solar wind and comparisons with solar data and models", J. Geophys. Res., 103(A7), 14,587–14,600. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 40.)
- Neukirch, T., 1995, "On self-consistent three-dimensional analytic solutions of the magnetohydrostatic equations", Astron. Astrophys., **301**, 628. [ADS] (Cited on pages 30, 31, and 32.)
- Owens, M.J., Crooker, N.U. and Lockwood, M., 2011, "How is open solar magnetic flux lost over the solar cycle?", J. Geophys. Res., 116, A04111. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 37.)
- Pesnell, W.D., Thompson, B.J. and Chamberlin, P.C., 2012, "The Solar Dynamics Observatory (SDO)", Solar Phys., 275, 3–15. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Pevtsov, A.A., Canfield, R.C. and Metcalf, T.R., 1995, "Latitudinal variation of helicity of photospheric magnetic fields", Astrophys. J. Lett., 440, L109–L112. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 44.)
- Pevtsov, A.A., Balasubramaniam, K.S. and Rogers, J.W., 2003, "Chirality of Chromospheric Filaments", *Astrophys. J.*, **595**, 500–505. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 44.)
- Pneuman, G.W. and Kopp, R.A., 1971, "Gas-Magnetic Field Interactions in the Solar Corona", Solar Phys., 18, 258–270. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 23.)
- Raouafi, N.-E., Harvey, J.W. and Henney, C.J., 2008, "On the Polar Field Distribution as Observed by SOLIS", in Subsurface and Atmospheric Influences on Solar Activity, Proceedings of a workshop held at the NSO/Sac, Sunspot, New Mexico, USA, 16–20 April 2007, (Eds.) Howe, R., Komm, R.W., Balasubramaniam, K.S., Petrie, G.J.D., vol. 383 of ASP Conference Series, p. 49, Astronomical Society of the Pacific, San Francisco. [ADS], [arXiv:0801.0764] (Cited on page 18.)
- Reale, F., 2010, "Coronal Loops: Observations and Modeling of Confined Plasma", Living Rev. Solar Phys., 7, Irsp-2010-5. [ADS], [arXiv:1010.5927 [astro-ph.SR]]. URL (accessed 5 October 2012): http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2010-5 (Cited on page 5.)
- Ribes, J.C. and Nesme-Ribes, E., 1993, "The solar sunspot cycle in the Maunder minimum AD 1645 to AD 1715", Astron. Astrophys., 276, 549–563. [ADS] (Cited on page 8.)
- Riley, P., 2007, "An Alternative Interpretation of the Relationship between the Inferred Open Solar Flux and the Interplanetary Magnetic Field", *Astrophys. J. Lett.*, **667**, L97–L100. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 38 and 39.)

- Riley, P., Linker, J.A., Mikić, Z., Lionello, R., Ledvina, S.A. and Luhmann, J.G., 2006, "A Comparison between Global Solar Magnetohydrodynamic and Potential Field Source Surface Model Results", *Astrophys. J.*, 653, 1510–1516. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 24, 33, and 34.)
- Riley, P., Lionello, R., Linker, J.A., Mikic, Z., Luhmann, J. and Wijaya, J., 2011, "Global MHD Modeling of the Solar Corona and Inner Heliosphere for the Whole Heliosphere Interval", *Solar Phys.*, 274, 361–377. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 33.)
- Ruan, P., Wiegelmann, T., Inhester, B., Neukirch, T., Solanki, S.K. and Feng, L., 2008, "A first step in reconstructing the solar corona self-consistently with a magnetohydrostatic model during solar activity minimum", Astron. Astrophys., 481, 827–834. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 31.)
- Rudenko, G.V., 2001, "A constructing method for a self-consistent three-dimensional solution of the magnetohydrostatic equations using full-disk magnetogram data", *Solar Phys.*, **198**, 279–287. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0005220] (Cited on page **31**.)
- Rušin, V., Druckmüller, M., Aniol, P., Minarovjech, M., Saniga, M., Mikić, Z., Linker, J.A., Lionello, R., Riley, P. and Titov, V.S., 2010, "Comparing eclipse observations of the 2008 August 1 solar corona with an MHD model prediction", Astron. Astrophys., 513, A45. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 46 and 47.)
- Schatten, K.H., 1971, "Current sheet magnetic model for the solar corona", *Cosmic Electrodyn.*, **2**, 232–245. [ADS] (Cited on pages **23** and **32**.)
- Schatten, K.H., Wilcox, J.M. and Ness, N.F., 1969, "A model of interplanetary and coronal magnetic fields", Solar Phys., 6, 442–455. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 21.)
- Schrijver, C.J., 2001, "Simulations of the Photospheric Magnetic Activity and Outer Atmospheric Radiative Losses of Cool Stars Based on Characteristics of the Solar Magnetic Field", Astrophys. J., 547, 475–490.
 [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16.)
- Schrijver, C.J. and DeRosa, M.L., 2003, "Photospheric and heliospheric magnetic fields", *Solar Phys.*, **212**, 165–200. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 16 and 41.)
- Schrijver, C.J. and Harvey, K.L., 1994, "The photospheric magnetic flux budget", *Solar Phys.*, **150**, 1–18. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 12.)
- Schrijver, C.J. and Liu, Y., 2008, "The Global Solar Magnetic Field Through a Full Sunspot Cycle: Observations and Model Results", *Solar Phys.*, 252, 19–31. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 17, 18, and 19.)
- Schrijver, C.J. and Title, A.M., 2001, "On the Formation of Polar Spots in Sun-like Stars", Astrophys. J., 551, 1099–1106. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 18 and 19.)
- Schrijver, C.J. and Zwaan, C., 2000, Solar and Stellar Magnetic Activity, vol. 34 of Cambridge Astrophysics Series, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge; New York. [ADS], [Google Books] (Cited on page 7.)
- Schrijver, C.J., DeRosa, M.L. and Title, A.M., 2002, "What Is Missing from Our Understanding of Long-Term Solar and Heliospheric Activity?", Astrophys. J., 577, 1006–1012. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 12, 14, 16, and 17.)
- Schrijver, C.J., DeRosa, M.L. and Title, A.M., 2003, "Asterospheric Magnetic Fields and Winds of Cool Stars", Astrophys. J., 590, 493–501. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 13 and 37.)
- Schrijver, C.J., Sandman, A.W., Aschwanden, M.J. and DeRosa, M.L., 2004, "The Coronal Heating Mechanism as Identified by Full-Sun Visualizations", Astrophys. J., 615, 512–525. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 47.)
- Schrijver, C.J., DeRosa, M.L., Metcalf, T.R., Liu, Y., McTiernan, J., Régnier, S., Valori, G., Wheatland, M.S. and Wiegelmann, T., 2006, "Nonlinear Force-Free Modeling of Coronal Magnetic Fields Part I: A Quantitative Comparison of Methods", *Solar Phys.*, 235, 161–190. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 25.)

- Schulz, M., Frazier, E.N. and Boucher Jr, D.J., 1978, "Coronal magnetic-field model with non-spherical source surface", Solar Phys., 60, 83–104. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 24.)
- Schüssler, M. and Baumann, I., 2006, "Modeling the Sun's open magnetic flux", Astron. Astrophys., 459, 945–953. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 11, 13, 32, and 39.)
- Schüssler, M. and Solanki, S.K., 1992, "Why rapid rotators have polar spots", Astron. Astrophys., 264, L13–L16. [ADS] (Cited on page 19.)
- Schüssler, M., Caligari, P., Ferriz-Mas, A. and Moreno-Insertis, F., 1994, "Instability and eruption of magnetic flux tubes in the solar convection zone", Astron. Astrophys., 281, L69–L72. [ADS] (Cited on page 20.)
- Semel, M., 1989, "Zeeman-Doppler imaging of active stars. I. Basic principles", Astron. Astrophys., 225, 456–466. [ADS] (Cited on pages 5 and 9.)
- Sheeley Jr, N.R., 2005, "Surface Evolution of the Sun's Magnetic Field: A Historical Review of the Flux-Transport Mechanism", *Living Rev. Solar Phys.*, 2, http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2005-5 (Cited on pages 6, 9, and 16.)
- Sheeley Jr, N.R., DeVore, C.R. and Boris, J.P., 1985, "Simulations of the mean solar magnetic field during sunspot cycle 21", Solar Phys., 98, 219–239. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 12 and 15.)
- Sheeley Jr, N.R., Nash, A.G. and Wang, Y.-M., 1987, "The origin of rigidly rotating magnetic field patterns on the sun", Astrophys. J., 319, 481–502. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 15.)
- Sheeley Jr, N.R., Wang, Y.-M. and DeVore, C.R., 1989, "Implications of a strongly peaked polar magnetic field", *Solar Phys.*, **124**, 1–13. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 12.)
- Snodgrass, H.B., 1983, "Magnetic rotation of the solar photosphere", Astrophys. J., 270, 288–299. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 9 and 11.)
- Solanki, S.K., 2003, "Sunspots: An overview", Astron. Astrophys. Rev., 11, 153–286. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 5.)
- Solanki, S.K., Schüssler, M. and Fligge, M., 2000, "Evolution of the Sun's large-scale magnetic field since the Maunder minimum", *Nature*, 408, 445–447. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 37.)
- Solanki, S.K., Schüssler, M. and Fligge, M., 2002, "Secular variation of the Sun's magnetic flux", Astron. Astrophys., 383, 706–712. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 37.)
- Strassmeier, K.G. and Rice, J.B., 2001, "Doppler Imaging of the Pre-Main-Sequence Binary V824 Ara = HD 155555", in *Cool Stars, Stellar Systems and the Sun: 11th Cambridge Workshop*, Proceedings of a meeting held at Puerto de la Cruz, Tenerife, Spain, 4–8 October 1999, (Eds.) García López, R.J., Rebolo, R., Zapaterio Osorio, M.R., vol. 223 of ASP Conference Series, p. 1302, Astronomical Society of the Pacific, San Francisco. [ADS] (Cited on page 19.)
- Stuiver, M. and Quay, P.D., 1980, "Changes in atmospheric Carbon-14 attributed to a variable sun", Science, 207, 11–19. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 8 and 36.)
- Svalgaard, L., 2006, "How Good (or Bad) are the Inner Boundary Conditions for Heliospheric Solar Wind Modeling?", Workshop on Solar, Heliospheric & Interplanetary Environment (SHINE 2006), Zermatt Resort, Midway, UT, July 31–August 4, 2006, conference paper. Online version (accessed 26 October 2012):

http://www.leif.org/research/ (Cited on page 38.)

Svensmark, H., 1998, "Influence of Cosmic Rays on Earth's Climate", Phys. Rev. Lett., 81, 5027–5030. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 36.)

- Svensmark, H. and Friis-Christensen, E., 1997, "Variation of cosmic ray flux and global cloud coverage a missing link in solar-climate relationships", J. Atmos. Sol.-Terr. Phys., 59, 1225–1232. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 36.)
- Tadesse, T., Wiegelmann, T., Inhester, B. and Pevtsov, A., 2011, "Nonlinear force-free field extrapolation in spherical geometry: improved boundary data treatment applied to a SOLIS/VSM vector magnetogram", *Astron. Astrophys.*, **527**, A30. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1011.6285 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 26.)
- Titov, V.S., Mikić, Z., Linker, J.A., Lionello, R. and Antiochos, S.K., 2011, "Magnetic Topology of Coronal Hole Linkages", Astrophys. J., 731, 111. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1011.0009 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 43.)
- Tóth, G., van der Holst, B., Sokolov, I.V., de Zeeuw, D.L., Gombosi, T.I., Fang, F., Manchester IV, W.B., Meng, X., Najib, D., Powell, K.G., Stout, Q.F., Glocer, A., Ma, Y.-J. and Opher, M., 2012, "Adaptive numerical algorithms in space weather modeling", *J. Comput. Phys.*, 231, 870–903. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 33.)
- Usoskin, I.G., 2008, "A History of Solar Activity over Millennia", Living Rev. Solar Phys., 5, hsp-2008-3. [ADS], [arXiv:0810.3972]. URL (accessed 5 October 2012): http://www.livingreviews.org/lrsp-2008-3 (Cited on page 8.)
- van Ballegooijen, A.A. and Mackay, D.H., 2007, "Model for the Coupled Evolution of Subsurface and Coronal Magnetic Fields in Solar Active Regions", Astrophys. J., 659, 1713–1725. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 14.)
- van Ballegooijen, A.A., Cartledge, N.P. and Priest, E.R., 1998, "Magnetic Flux Transport and the Formation of Filament Channels on the Sun", Astrophys. J., 501, 866. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 10, 11, 12, 14, 16, and 44.)
- van Ballegooijen, A.A., Priest, E.R. and Mackay, D.H., 2000, "Mean Field Model for the Formation of Filament Channels on the Sun", *Astrophys. J.*, **539**, 983–994. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 14, 28, 29, and 43.)
- Vaquero, J.M., Gallego, M.C., Usoskin, I.G. and Kovaltsov, G.A., 2011, "Revisited Sunspot Data: A New Scenario for the Onset of the Maunder Minimum", Astrophys. J. Lett., 731, L24. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1103.1520 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 7.)
- Vásquez, A.M., Frazin, R.A., Hayashi, K., Sokolov, I.V., Cohen, O., Manchester IV, W.B. and Kamalabadi, F., 2008, "Validation of Two MHD Models of the Solar Corona with Rotational Tomography", Astrophys. J., 682, 1328–1337. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 34.)
- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1989, "Average properties of bipolar magnetic regions during sunspot cycle 21", Solar Phys., 124, 81–100. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 44.)
- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1990, "Magnetic flux transport and the sunspot-cycle evolution of coronal holes and their wind streams", *Astrophys. J.*, **365**, 372–386. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page **41**.)
- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1991, "Magnetic flux transport and the Sun's dipole moment: New twists to the Babcock-Leighton model", Astrophys. J., 375, 761–770. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 13.)
- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1992, "On potential field models of the solar corona", Astrophys. J., 392, 310–319. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 22.)
- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1993, "Understanding the rotation of coronal holes", Astrophys. J., 414, 916–927. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 41.)
- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1994, "The rotation of photospheric magnetic fields: A random walk transport model", *Astrophys. J.*, **430**, 399–412. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 12.)

- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 2002, "Sunspot activity and the long-term variation of the Sun's open magnetic flux", J. Geophys. Res., 107(A10), 1302. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 37 and 38.)
- Wang, Y.-M. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 2004, "Footpoint Switching and the Evolution of Coronal Holes", Astrophys. J., 612, 1196–1205. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 41.)
- Wang, Y.-M., Nash, A.G. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1989a, "Evolution of the Sun's polar fields during sunspot cycle 21: Poleward surges and long-term behavior", Astrophys. J., 347, 529–539. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 12.)
- Wang, Y.-M., Nash, A.G. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1989b, "Magnetic Flux Transport on the Sun", Science, 245, 712–718. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 10, 11, 15, and 16.)
- Wang, Y.-M., Hawley, S.H. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 1996, "The Magnetic Nature of Coronal Holes", *Science*, **271**, 464–469. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 40 and 41.)
- Wang, Y.-M., Sheeley Jr, N.R. and Lean, J., 2000, "Understanding the evolution of the Sun's open magnetic flux", *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 27, 621–624. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 38.)
- Wang, Y.-M., Lean, J. and Sheeley Jr, N.R., 2002a, "Role of a Variable Meridional Flow in the Secular Evolution of the Sun's Polar Fields and Open Flux", Astrophys. J. Lett., 577, L53–L57. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 17, 18, and 19.)
- Wang, Y.-M., Sheeley Jr, N.R. and Lean, J., 2002b, "Meridional Flow and the Solar Cycle Variation of the Sun's Open Magnetic Flux", Astrophys. J., 580, 1188–1196. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 11 and 38.)
- Weber, E.J. and Davis Jr, L., 1967, "The Angular Momentum of the Solar Wind", Astrophys. J., 148, 217–227. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 37.)
- Wheatland, M.S., Sturrock, P.A. and Roumeliotis, G., 2000, "An Optimization Approach to Reconstructing Force-free Fields", Astrophys. J., 540, 1150–1155. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 26.)
- Wiegelmann, T., 2007, "Computing Nonlinear Force-Free Coronal Magnetic Fields in Spherical Geometry", Solar Phys., 240, 227–239. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:astro-ph/0612124] (Cited on pages 26 and 27.)
- Wiegelmann, T., Neukirch, T., Ruan, P. and Inhester, B., 2007, "Optimization approach for the computation of magnetohydrostatic coronal equilibria in spherical geometry", Astron. Astrophys., 475, 701–706.
 [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0801.2916] (Cited on page 32.)
- Wolf, R., 1861, "Abstract of his latest Results", Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 21, 77–78. [ADS] (Cited on page 12.)
- Worden, J. and Harvey, J., 2000, "An Evolving Synoptic Magnetic Flux map and Implications for the Distribution of Photospheric Magnetic Flux", *Solar Phys.*, **195**, 247–268. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 13 and 16.)
- Yang, W.H., Sturrock, P.A. and Antiochos, S.K., 1986, "Force-free magnetic fields: The magneto-frictional method", Astrophys. J., 309, 383–391. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 29.)
- Yeates, A.R. and Mackay, D.H., 2009a, "Initiation of Coronal Mass Ejections in a Global Evolution Model", Astrophys. J., 699, 1024–1037. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0904.4419] (Cited on page 45.)
- Yeates, A.R. and Mackay, D.H., 2009b, "Modelling the Global Solar Corona: III. Origin of the Hemispheric Pattern of Filaments", Solar Phys., 254, 77–88. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0810.0517] (Cited on page 45.)
- Yeates, A.R. and Mackay, D.H., 2012, "Chirality of High-latitude Filaments over Solar Cycle 23", Astrophys. J. Lett., 753, L34. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1206.2327 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on page 45.)
- Yeates, A.R., Mackay, D.H. and van Ballegooijen, A.A., 2007, "Modelling the Global Solar Corona: Filament Chirality Observations and Surface Simulations", *Solar Phys.*, 245, 87–107. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0707.3256] (Cited on pages 12, 28, and 44.)

- Yeates, A.R., Mackay, D.H. and van Ballegooijen, A.A., 2008a, "Evolution and Distribution of Current Helicity in Full-Sun Simulations", Astrophys. J. Lett., 680, L165–L168. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0805.1883] (Cited on pages 29 and 44.)
- Yeates, A.R., Mackay, D.H. and van Ballegooijen, A.A., 2008b, "Modelling the Global Solar Corona II: Coronal Evolution and Filament Chirality Comparison", *Solar Phys.*, 247, 103–121. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0711.2887] (Cited on pages 28, 29, 30, 44, and 45.)
- Yeates, A.R., Attrill, G.D.R., Nandy, D., Mackay, D.H., Martens, P.C.H. and van Ballegooijen, A.A., 2010a, "Comparison of a Global Magnetic Evolution Model with Observations of Coronal Mass Ejections", *Astrophys. J.*, **709**, 1238–1248. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:0912.3347] (Cited on page 45.)
- Yeates, A.R., Mackay, D.H., van Ballegooijen, A.A. and Constable, J.A., 2010b, "A nonpotential model for the Sun's open magnetic flux", J. Geophys. Res., 115, A09112. [DOI], [ADS], [arXiv:1006.4011 [astro-ph.SR]] (Cited on pages 30, 38, and 39.)
- Yeh, T. and Pneuman, G.W., 1977, "A sheet-current approach to coronal-interplanetary modeling", Solar Phys., 54, 419–430. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 24.)
- Zhao, X. and Hoeksema, J.T., 1994, "A coronal magnetic field model with horizontal volume and sheet currents", Solar Phys., 151, 91–105. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 23 and 32.)
- Zhao, X. and Hoeksema, J.T., 1995, "Prediction of the interplanetary magnetic field strength", J. Geophys. Res., 100, 19–33. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 32.)
- Zhao, X.P. and Hoeksema, J.T., 2010, "The Magnetic Field at the Inner Boundary of the Heliosphere Around Solar Minimum", *Solar Phys.*, **266**, 379–390. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page **24**.)
- Zhao, X.P., Hoeksema, J.T. and Scherrer, P.H., 2000, "Modeling the 1994 April 14 Polar Crown SXR Arcade Using Three-Dimensional Magnetohydrostatic Equilibrium Solutions", Astrophys. J., 538, 932– 939. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on pages 31 and 32.)
- Zirker, J.B., 1977, "Coronal holes and high-speed wind streams", Rev. Geophys. Space Phys., 15, 257–269. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 40.)
- Zirker, J.B., Martin, S.F., Harvey, K. and Gaizauskas, V., 1997, "Global Magnetic Patterns of Chirality", Solar Phys., 175, 27–44. [DOI], [ADS] (Cited on page 44.)